
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

I. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements of SBI Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Group”) were prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in Japan (“JGAAP”) and were presented by reference to the 
“Rules Governing Term, Form and Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements” (Finance Ministerial Order the 28th, 1976, which is hereinafter 
referred to as the “Consolidated Financial Statements Rule”). The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group have been prepared on the his-
torical cost basis except for certain financial instruments such as certain investments and derivatives, which are stated at fair value, the details of 
which are listed below.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Japanese Yen (“Yen” or “¥”).

II. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Accounting policies
(1) Scope of consolidation and application of the equity method
(a) �Under the control or influence concept, those companies in which the Group, directly or indirectly, is able to exercise control are consolidated, 

and those companies over which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for using the equity method.
(b) �All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All material unrealized profit or loss resulting from 

intercompany transactions is eliminated.
(c) Basis for exclusion from scope of consolidation

(i) �Small size entities of which total assets, sales, and proportional share of net income and retained earnings are considered to be immaterial are 
excluded from consolidation. Investments in partnerships which are classified as subsidiaries under Practical Issues Task Force (“PITF”) No. 
20—“Practical Solution on Application of Control,” issued on 8 September 2006, are excluded from consolidation as the effect of consolidation 
may be misleading to investors, in accordance with the item (ii) of Article 5 (1) of the Consolidated Financial Statements Rule.

(ii) �Venture capital investments are excluded from the scope of consolidation since the purpose of investments are not for exercising control but 
to foster the development of venture capital portfolios.

(d) Basis for not applying the equity method
(i) �Small size entities of which proportional share of net income and retained earnings are considered to be immaterial individually and collectively 

are not accounted for using the equity method.
(ii) �Venture capital investments are not accounted for using the equity method since the purpose of investments are not for exercising significant 

influence but to foster the development of venture capital portfolios.
(e) �Consolidated financial statements are prepared based on the financial statements of each reporting entity and adjustments are made when their 

year end dates are different over 3 months.

(2) Valuation method of significant assets
(a) Trading instruments

Trading instruments, which are held for the purpose of earning capital gains in the near term, are reported at fair value, with the related unrealized 
gains and losses included in income.

(b) �Available-for-sale securities (consist of investment securities and operational investment securities other than investments in funds), which are not 
classified as trading instruments:
(i) Listed securities

Listed securities are measured at fair value, with fair value gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, reported as “unrealized gains (losses) 
on available-for-sales securities,” a separate component of net assets. The cost of securities sold is determined based on the moving aver-
age cost method.

(ii) Unlisted securities
Unlisted securities are principally stated at cost less impairment, determined by the moving average cost method. However, unlisted avail-
able-for-sale securities held by certain overseas subsidiaries adopting International Financial Reporting Standards are measured at fair value.

(c) Investments in funds
For the investments in funds other than those included in the scope of consolidation, the Company’s proportionate share in the net assets of the 
funds is calculated based on the funds’ annual financial statements or interim financial statements and is presented as “Operational investment 
securities” (Current assets) or “Investment securities” (Non-current assets).

(d) Derivative contracts
Derivative contracts are measured at fair value.

(e) Real estate inventories
Real estate inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value.
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(3) Depreciation method of depreciable assets
(a) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of property and equipment by the Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries is computed using the declining-balance method over the estimated useful lives of assets while the straight-line method 
is applied to buildings acquired after 1 April 1998. The range of useful lives is principally from 5 to 50 years for buildings, and from 4 to 20 years 
for furniture and fixtures. Most overseas consolidated subsidiaries apply the straight-line method. Leased assets are depreciated by the straight-
line method over the lease terms with a residual value of zero.

(b) Land
Land is stated at cost less impairment. 

(c) Intangible assets
(i) Software used for internal purposes is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the software (5 years).
(ii) Software for sale is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated saleable period of the software, which is 3 years or less.
(iii) Leased assets are depreciated by using the straight-line method over the lease terms with a residual value of zero.

(4) Recognition and measurement of significant provisions and allowances
(a) Allowance for investment losses

Allowance for investment losses for operational investment securities and investment securities are provided based on the estimated losses of the 
investments and the financial condition of the investees.

(b) Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided based on the Group’s past credit loss experience and an evaluation of the recoverability of the out-
standing receivables including notes and accounts receivable-trade, operational loans receivable, loans on margin transactions and other loans 
receivable.

(c) Provision for bonuses
The Group provided provisions for bonuses to employees based on the estimation of the current year portion of future payments.

(d) Employees’ retirement benefits
The Group recorded liabilities for employees’ retirement benefits based on the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the balance sheet 
date. The simplified method was used and under such method, the liabilities were recognized and measured by assuming all the employees 
voluntarily retired at the end of the year.

(e) Statutory reserve for securities transactions liabilities/financial products transactions
Pursuant to Article 46–5 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act, certain consolidated subsidiaries provide statutory reserve against pos-
sible losses resulting from execution errors related to securities business transactions. The amount is calculated in accordance with Article 175 of 
the “Cabinet Office Ordinance concerning Financial Instruments Business.”

(f) Statutory reserve for price fluctuation
The Group provides statutory reserve against possible losses resulting from stock price fluctuations in accordance with Article 115 of the Insur-
ance Business Act.

(5) Recognition for net sales and cost of sales
Net sales and cost of sales
The Group’s net sales primarily consist of fees from funds, revenue from operational investment securities, revenue from real estate business, and 
revenue from securities transactions. The costs of sales principally consist of the cost of operational investment securities, the related provision of 
allowance for investment losses, and cost of real estate business.
(a) Revenue and cost of operational investment securities

Revenue from operational investment securities includes all of the revenue which is related to or generated by operational investment securities 
and securities held by funds. Cost of operational investment securities consists of the carrying value on the sale of operational investment securi-
ties and securities held by funds, and the write-down of operational investment securities and securities held by funds.

(b) Fees from funds
Fees from funds consist of establishment fees for fund organization, management fees, and success fees from funds which are not within the 
scope of consolidation and managed by the Group. Management fees from funds are recognized over the period of the fund management agree-
ment. Establishment fees and success fees from funds are recognized when those revenue amounts are determined and the services are provided.

(c) Revenue from construction projects
When the total construction revenue, total construction costs and the stage of completion of the contract can be reliably measured at the balance 
sheet date, the percentage-of-completion method is applied. The stage of completion is assumed to be the portion of the project’s costs incurred 
to the balance sheet date divided by total estimated costs, “cost-to-cost method.” If the outcome of a construction contract cannot be reliably 
estimated at the balance sheet date, the completed contract method is applied.

(d) Revenue from securities transactions
Revenue from securities transactions primarily consists of brokerage commissions from securities transactions, fees from underwriting activities 
and offerings of securities for initial public offerings, and fees for placements and sales of securities. 
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(e) Revenue from finance lease transactions
Revenue and cost of finance lease transactions are recognized when payments are received.

(f) Financial charges and cost of funding
Financial charges and cost of funding, which consist of interest expense for margin trading transactions and costs from repurchase agreement 
transactions, etc. which are related to the investment banking businesses, are recorded as cost of sales. As for certain consolidated subsidiaries, 
interest expense other than financial charges is classified as interests related to operating assets (e.g. leases receivable and lease investment 
assets, etc.) or to non-operating assets. Interest expense (cost of funding) related to operating assets is classified as cost of sales. During the 
development of a project, interest expense related to long-term and large-scale real estate development is included in the cost of the real estate 
inventories.

(6) Translations of significant assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Japanese Yen using the exchange rates at the balance sheet date, 
and the translation adjustment is recognized as foreign exchange gains or losses. The balance sheets of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries are trans-
lated into Japanese Yen using their exchange rate as at the balance sheet date except for net assets, which are translated at the historical rates. Rev-
enue and expense accounts of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into Japanese Yen using the average exchange rate of the year. 
Differences arising from such translation are shown as “Foreign currency translation adjustments,” as a separate component under “Net assets” except 
for the portion pertaining to the minority shareholders, which is included under “Minority interests” as a separate component under “Net assets.”

(7) Accounting for significant lease transactions
In March 2007, the Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) issued ASBJ Statement No. 13, “Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions,” 
which revised the previous accounting standard for lease transactions issued in June 1993. The revised accounting standard for lease transactions 
was effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 April 2008.
(a) Lessee

ASBJ Statement No. 13 requires that all finance lease transactions be capitalized to recognize leased assets and lease obligations in the balance 
sheet. In addition, leases which existed at the transition date and did not transfer ownership of the leased assets to the lessee continue to be 
accounted for as operating lease transactions with certain “as if capitalized” information disclosed in the notes to the lessee’s financial 
information.

The Group continues to account for leases which existed at the transition date that did not transfer ownership of the leased assets to the 
lessee as operating lease transactions.

(b) Lessor
ASBJ statement No. 13 requires that all finance leases be recognized as leases receivable, and that all finance leases that are deemed not to 
transfer ownership of the assets leased to other parties under operating leases be recognized as lease investment assets. For the finance leases 
which existed at the transition date and did not transfer ownership of the assets leased to other parties under operating leases, the book value of 
the leased assets (after deducting accumulated depreciation) at the transition date is used as the beginning value of the lease investment assets.

The Group adopted ASBJ statement No. 13 on 1 April 2008. Leases receivable and lease investment assets are stated at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation. Depreciation is computed by using the straight-line method over the useful life with a residual value of zero.

(8) Accounting for significant hedging transactions
(a) Accounting for hedges

The Group applies deferred hedge accounting when certain criteria are met. Foreign currency forward contracts are used to hedge foreign cur-
rency exposures in the Group. Receivables, payables and investment securities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the contracted 
rates if the forward contracts are qualified for hedge accounting. Interest rate swaps, which are qualified for hedge accounting and met the spe-
cific matching criteria, are not revaluated at fair market value. The differential paid or received under the swap agreements is recognized and 
included in interest expense or income.

(b) Hedging instruments and hedged item
(i) �Hedging instruments—foreign currency forward contracts 

Hedged items—foreign currency denominated receivables and payables and investment securities
(ii) �Hedging instruments—interest rate swap contracts 

Hedged items—loans and bonds payables
(c) Hedging policy

(i) �For foreign currency-denominated transactions, the foreign currency forward contracts are used to hedge foreign currency exposures in the 
Group.

(ii) For interest expense on borrowing, interest rate swap contracts are utilized to mitigate the volatility of interest rates.
(d) Assessment of effectiveness between the hedging instrument and the hedged item

(i) �The Group does not assess the hedge effectiveness of foreign currency forward contracts which qualify for hedge accounting and meet spe-
cific matching criteria.

(ii) �The Group assesses hedge effectiveness by comparing the cumulative changes in the fair value of the hedged items and the hedging 
instruments during the period from commencement of hedging to the point of assessing effectiveness, based on changes in both amount 
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and others. The Group does not assess the hedge effectiveness of interest rate swaps which qualify for hedge accounting and meet spe-
cific matching criteria.

(9) Accounting for amortization of goodwill
Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the expected beneficial period, or over 20 years if the beneficial period 
could not be reasonably estimated. However, goodwill could be recognized as an expense as incurred if the amount is immaterial.

(10) Cash and cash equivalents stated in the consolidated statement of cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents stated in the consolidated statement of cash flows are cash and deposits or short-term investment securities that are 
readily convertible into cash, and are not exposed to significant risk of changes in value, all of which will mature or become due within three months 
from the date of acquisition.

2. Other significant accounting policies for consolidated financial statements
(1) Business combination
For the period beginning on 1 April 2010:
In December 2008, the ASBJ issued a revised accounting standard for business combinations, “Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” 
(ASBJ Statement No. 21 issued on 26 December 2008), “Accounting Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement No. 22 
issued on 26 December 2008), “Partial amendments to Accounting Standard for Research and Development Costs” (ASBJ Statement No. 23 issued 
on 26 December 2008), “Revised Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Statement No. 7 (Revised 2008) issued on 26 December 
2008), “Revised Accounting Standard for Equity Method of Accounting for Investments” (ASBJ Statement No. 16 (Revised 2008) released on 26 
December 2008) and “Revised Guidance on Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” 
(ASBJ Guidance No. 10 (Revised 2008) issued on 26 December 2008), hereinafter referred to as “revised standards.” The revised standards were 
effective for the business combinations transactions undertaken on or after 1 April 2010 and are applied prospectively.

Major accounting changes under the revised accounting standards are as follows:
(i) �The previous accounting standard for business combinations allowed companies to apply the pooling of interests method of accounting when 

certain specific criteria were met such that the business combination was essentially regarded as a uniting of interests. The revised standards 
require accounting for such business combinations by the purchase method and the pooling of interests method of accounting is no longer 
allowed.

(ii) �The previous accounting standard accounted for the research and development costs to be charged to income as incurred. Under the revised 
standards, an in-process research and development (IPR&D) acquired by a business combination is capitalized as an intangible asset.

(iii) �Under the previous accounting standard, a bargain purchase (negative goodwill) was capitalized and amortized within 20 years. Under the 
revised standards, a bargain purchase is recognized as profit on the acquisition date.

(iv) �Under the previous accounting standard, when a parent obtained control over a subsidiary by a step acquisition, goodwill was measured on 
the date the parent obtained control as the difference between (a) the aggregate carrying amount of any previously held equity interests and 
the purchase consideration and (b) the net amount of the fair value of assets and the liabilities attributable to the parent on the date the parent 
obtained control. Under the revised standards, the acquirer should remeasure its previously held equity interests in the acquiree at its 
acquisition-date fair value and recognize any resulting gain or loss. Goodwill is measured at the acquisition date as the difference between (1) 
the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the entity 
acquired and the acquisition-date fair value of any previously held equity interests in the entity acquired and (2) the net of the acquisition-date 
fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

(2) Accounting for investments in funds
For the investments in funds categorized as subsidiaries but not within the scope of consolidation, the Company’s proportionate share in the net 
assets and revenue/expenses of those funds is calculated based on the funds’ annual financial statements or semi-annual financial statements and 
is presented as “Investment securities” (Non-current assets) and revenue/expenses, respectively.

For the investments in funds held for operational investment purposes, which are not categorized as subsidiaries, the Company’s proportionate 
share in the net assets and revenue/expenses of those funds is calculated based on the funds’ annual financial statements or interim financial state-
ments and is presented as “Operational investment securities” (Current assets) and revenue/expenses, respectively.

For the investment in funds other than those held for operational investment purposes, which are not categorized as subsidiaries, the Company’s 
proportionate share in the net assets and revenue/expenses of those funds is calculated based on the funds’ annual financial statements or interim 
financial statements and is presented as “Investment securities” (Non-current assets) and non-operating income/expenses, respectively.

(3) Deferred charges
(a) Stock issuance costs

Stock issuance costs are amortized over 3 years by using the straight-line method. 
(b) Bond issuance costs

Bond issuance costs are amortized over the bond term by using the straight-line method. 
(c) Deferred operating costs under Section 113 of the Insurance Business Act

These deferred operating costs can be amortized within 10 years according to section 113 of the Insurance Business Act of Japan.

69SBI Holdings, Inc.   Annual Report 2012



(4) Accounting for consumption tax
The amounts in the consolidated financial statements are presented without consumption or local consumption taxes.

(5) Cash segregated as deposits
Cash segregated as deposits are mainly client’s trust money and cash deposited as collateral under the regulatory requirement, and stated at cost.

(6) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables including notes and accounts receivable—trade, operational loans receivable and other loans receivable are measured at 
historical cost less allowance for doubtful accounts. The carrying amount of loans and receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. Margin loans receivable are stated at amounts equal to the purchase amounts of the relevant securities, which are collateralized by 
customers’ securities and customers’ deposits. (See the accounting policy in respect of allowance for doubtful accounts).

(7) Deposits from customers and guarantee deposits received
Deposits received are mainly deposits received from customers and guarantee deposits received which are recognized at cost.

(8) Impairment losses on non-current assets
The Group reviews their non-current assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset or asset group may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows 
expected to result from the continued use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group.

The impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher 
of the discounted cash flows from the continued use and eventual disposition of the asset or the net selling price at disposition.

(9) Asset retirement obligation
Asset retirement obligation is recognized when there is a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The asset retirement obligation is measured at the present value.

(10) Borrowings
Borrowings are stated at cost, which represent the loans payable and bonds payable outstanding at the balance sheet date.

(11) Retail margin trading liabilities
Retail margin trading liabilities are stated at cost.

(12) Stock options
ASBJ Statement No. 8, “Accounting Standard for Stock Options” and related guidance are applicable to stock options granted on and after 1 May 
2006. This standard requires companies to recognize compensation expense for employee stock options based on the fair value at the date of grant 
and expense over the vesting period as consideration for receiving goods or services.

The standard also requires companies to account for stock options granted to non-employees based on the fair value of either the stock options 
granted or the goods or services received. In the consolidated balance sheets, the stock option is presented as a stock acquisition right as a 
separate component of equity until exercised.

The standard covers equity-settled share-based payment transactions but does not cover cash-settled share-based payment transactions. The 
standard allows the stock options granted by unlisted companies to be measured at their intrinsic value if their fair values cannot be reliably esti-
mated. The Group applied this accounting standard for stock options granted after 1 May 2006.

(13) Bonuses to directors and statutory auditors
Bonuses to directors and statutory auditors are accrued at the balance sheet date.

(14) Income taxes
The provision for income taxes is computed based on the pretax income included in the consolidated statements of operations.

The asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.

Deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax laws to the temporary differences.
A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that these items will either expire before the Group is able to 

realize their benefits, or that future deductibility is uncertain.

(15) Per share information
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common 
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shares outstanding for the period.
Diluted net income per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities were exercised or converted into common stock. Diluted 

net income per share of common stock assumes full conversion of the outstanding convertible notes and bonds at the beginning of the year (or at 
the time of issuance) with an applicable adjustment for related interest expense, net of tax, and full exercise of outstanding warrants.

Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations are dividends attributable to the respective 
years including dividends to be paid after the end of the year.

III. NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

Revision of Accounting Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements (ASBJ Statement No. 22) and related Implementation Guidance and 
Practical Solution (revised on 25 March 2011, the “Revised Standards”)

Before the revision of accounting standards, the special purpose company under certain conditions was not presumed to be a subsidiary of the 
investor or company which transfers its assets to the special purpose company. Under the Revised Standards, only the company which transfers its 
assets can apply the presumption. The Group plans to apply the Revised Standards from the beginning of fiscal year ending 31 March 2014.

Since no entities have been presumed to be a subsidiary under the current accounting standard, no significant affect on the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

IV. CHANGES IN PRESENTATION

The following presentation changes are reflected on respective consolidated statements of operations:
1. �“Amortization of stock issuance costs” and “Amortization of bond issuance costs,” which were separately presented for the year ended 31 March 

2011, were included in “Others” of “Non-operating expense” in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended 31 March 2012 as 
the amounts were immaterial. As a result, “Amortization of stock issuance costs” and “Amortization of bond issuance costs” for the year ended 31 
March 2011 of ¥50 million and ¥90 million, respectively, were reclassified into “Others” of “Non-operating expense.”

2. �“Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts” and “Gains on the changes in interests in consolidated subsidiaries and equity method investees,” 
which were separately presented in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended 31 March 2011 were included in “Others” of 
“Extraordinary income” in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended 31 March 2012 as the amounts were immaterial. As a 
result, “Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts” and “Gains on the changes in interests in consolidated subsidiaries and equity method 
investees” for the year ended 31 March 2011 of ¥68 million and ¥63 million, respectively were reclassified into “Others” of “Extraordinary income.”

3. �“Losses on the changes in equity interests in consolidated subsidiaries and equity method investees” and “Losses on retirements of non-current 
assets,” which were separately presented in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended 31 March 2011 were included in 
“Others” of “Extraordinary expense” in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended 31 March 2012 as the amounts were imma-
terial. As a result, “Losses on the changes in equity interests in consolidated subsidiaries and equity method investees” and “Losses on retire-
ments of non-current assets” for the year ended 31 March 2011 of ¥23 million and ¥193 million, respectively, were reclassified into “Others” of 
“Extraordinary expense.”

V. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Application of Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and Error Corrections
The Company has applied “Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” (ASBJ Statement No. 24 issued on 4 December 
2009) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” (ASBJ Guidance No. 24 issued on 4 December 2009) 
to the accounting changes and error corrections which have been made after 31 March 2011.

Stock Benefit Trust
At the board meeting held on 29 September 2011, the Directors of the Company resolved to introduce “Stock Benefit Trust (Employee Stockholding 
Association Purchase-type)” (hereinafter the “Plan” and the “Trust”).

The purpose of the Plan is to improve employees’ welfare and to increase their motivations for work and awareness of the Company’s stock 
performance through its steady provision of stock to the employee stockholding association and distribution of the profit created by trust property 
management in order to increase the Company’s corporate value.

Accounting for the Trust is based upon the assumption that the Company and the Trust are inseparable. The Company’s stock held by the 
Trust is accounted for as treasury stock while the Trust’s assets and liabilities as well as its income and expenses are included in the Group’s con-
solidated financial statements. The number of the stocks held by the Trust is included in the number of treasury stock and not included in the 
number of shares outstanding for the calculation of per share information. The number of treasury stock held by the Trust as at 31 March 2012 was 
70,604 shares.
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Adoption of the Consolidation Tax Fillings
The Company and certain subsidiaries made an application for the consolidation tax fillings to the tax authority in December 2011. The application 
was approved, and the consolidation tax fillings will be adopted from the fiscal year beginning on 1 April 2012. Preparing for the adoption, the finan-
cial statements for this fiscal year are presented in accordance with “Tentative Solution for the Deferred Tax Accounting on Application of Tax Con-
solidation (part 1)” (Practical Issues Task Force No. 5 revised on 18 March 2011) and “Tentative Solution for the Deferred Tax Accounting on 
Application of Tax Consolidation (part 2)” (Practical Issues Task Force No. 7, 30 June 2010).

VI. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

1. Operational investment securities
As at 31 March 2011 and 2012, operational investment securities included investments in funds and direct investments. Investment in funds 
included in operational investment securities consisted of the following:

As at 31 March 
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

New Horizon Capital, L.P 17,041 9,237
NEW HORIZON FUND, L.P 5,231 4,713

New Horizon Capital III, L.P 2,069 3,080

SBI & BDJB CHINA FUND, L.P 2,370 2,885
Jefferies SBI USA Fund L.P. 795 1,631
SBI BB MEDIA INVESTMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 1,217 1,195
LC Fund III, L.P. 1,029 1,039
Others 1,989 4,161
Subtotal (Investments in funds) 31,746 27,944
Direct investments 110,135 120,155
Total 141,881 148,099

2. Real estate inventories
Real estate inventories consisted of the following:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Real estate for sale 7,505 3,866
Real estate for sale in progress 7,083 6,430
Real estate for development 1,403 1,403
Beneficial interest in real estate investment trust 821 —
Total 16,812 11,699

3. Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates are as follows:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Investment securities 43,463 51,087

The above investment securities include investments in jointly controlled entities of ¥20,763 million and ¥23,816 million as at 31 March 2011 and 
2012, respectively.
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4. Pledged assets
Pledged assets consisted of the following:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Cash and deposits 521 1
Notes and accounts receivable—trade 2,126 417
Operational investment securities 420 1,291
Operational loans receivable 3,206 3,047
Real estate inventories 747 537
Others—current assets 4,593 3,407
Buildings 4,570 4,391
Land 5,063 5,475
Investment securities 1,937 1,314
Total 23,188 19,883

The assets were pledged as collateral for:
Short-term loans payable 9,038 1,318
Current portion of long-term loans payable 1,291 1,402
Current portion of bonds payable 60 60
Long-term loans payable 8,269 12,040
Bonds payable 540 480

Besides the above, securities received as collateral for financing from broker’s own capital of ¥1,163 million and ¥7,422 million were pledged as 
collateral for borrowings on margin transactions as at 31 March 2011 and 2012, respectively.

5. Contingent liabilities
Guarantees for the debts owed to other financial institutions in the Group’s credit guarantee business are as follows:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Guarantee of bank loans 18,234 47,169

6. Off-balance sheet items—Fair values of the securities deposited in securities-related businesses
Securities deposited in securities-related businesses represented securities lent to customers under securities lending arrangements.

Fair values of the securities deposited in securities-related businesses are as follows:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Securities loaned on margin transactions 73,267 101,846
Securities pledged for borrowings on margin transactions 71,241 75,482
Substitute securities for pledged margin transactions (except those related to customer’s direct deposit) 39,118 27,365
Substitute securities for guarantee money paid 41,234 42,910
Securities loaned under loan agreements 60,481 79,211

7. Off-balance sheet items—Fair values of the securities received in securities-related businesses
Securities received in securities-related businesses represented securities borrowed by the Group under securities lending arrangements.

Fair values of the securities received in securities-related businesses are as follows:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Securities pledged for loans on margin transactions 211,846 213,600
Securities borrowings on margin transactions 20,976 39,360
Substitute securities for guarantee money received, which were agreed on as collateral for other transactions 250,092 243,550
Substitute securities for margin money received, which were agreed on as collateral for other transactions 100 100
Securities borrowed under loan agreements other than margin transactions 71,880 79,073
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8. Trading instruments
Trading instruments consisted of the following:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Equity securities 28 —
Debt securities 188 326
Others 4 4
Subtotal 222 331
Derivatives 2,479 1,431
Total 2,701 1,763

9. Statutory reserves
As at 31 March 2011 and 2012, a reserve for the financial products transaction liabilities was provided in accordance with Article 46-5 of the 
Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Act, and a statutory reserve for price fluctuations was provided in accordance with Article 115 of the 
Insurance Business Act.

10. Credit facilities provided
Several consolidated subsidiaries were engaged in retail loan business, cash advance business for credit cards, and financing corporate reorganiza-
tion. The credit facilities provided by these subsidiaries in respect of their operations as at March 31 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Credit facilities 5,986 6,634
Utilized 2,928 3,879
Unused portion 3,057 2,754

It is noted that the above credit facilities can be utilized only if certain conditions are met. The purpose for the borrowings and any credit rating 
changes of the customers could result in the withdrawal of credit facilities.

11. Lines of credit from financial institutions
To ensure an efficient operating funds procurement, the Group entered into overdraft facilities with 21 banks as at 31 March 2012. Unused overdraft 
facilities as at March 31 2011 and 2012 are as follows: 

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Lines of credit 160,700 191,030
Used balance 84,424 80,006
Unused portion 76,276 111,023

VII. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

1. Gains (losses) on trading included in net sales consisted of the following:
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Realized Unrealized Total Realized Unrealized Total

Equity securities 14 0 14 23 0 23
Debt securities 1,307 (23) 1,284 1,003 12 1,016
Others 8,984 1,628 10,613 8,634 1,167 9,801
Total 10,306 1,605 11,911 9,660 1,179 10,840

The above trading gains (losses) included gains (losses) on certain businesses other than securities-related business of ¥55 million and ¥6 million 
for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2012, respectively.
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2. Cost of sales consisted of the following:
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Cost of sales arising from operational investment securities 7,031 13,026
Provision of allowance for operational investment securities losses 5,957 375
Financial charges 3,872 3,612
Cost of sales arising from real estate inventories 5,465 6,113
Others 45,208 51,623
Total 67,535 74,750

Cost of sales arising from operational investment securities includes valuation losses of ¥1,652 million and ¥4,044 million for the years ended 31 
March 2011and 2012, respectively. Others included financial costs and payrolls related to net sales.

3. Selling, general and administrative expenses include the following:
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Payroll and bonuses 10,552 10,830
Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts 2,407 1,694
Provision of bonuses 61 97
Outsourcing fees 11,188 11,361
Amortization of goodwill 7,889 7,866

4. Research and development costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Research and development costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses 542 1,156

5. The Group recorded the following impairment losses:
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Business Category Items Location

Impairment loss 
amount

(Millions of yen)

Brokerage & Investment Banking 
Business

Assets for online securities  
operation system

Buildings, furniture and fixtures, 
software and leased assets Tokyo 350

Financial Services Business Assets for operation of car-related 
information site

Buildings, furniture and fixtures and 
software, etc. Tokyo 150

Others Assets for healthcare-related 
business

Buildings, furniture and fixtures and 
software, etc. Tokyo, etc. 360

(1) Grouping of assets
The grouping of assets was generally based on the smallest cash-generating unit that generates cash inflows that are independent of the cash 
inflows from other groups. The grouping of lease property and unutilized assets was based on individual assets.

(2) Background to recognize impairment loss
In the Brokerage & Investment Banking Business, implementation of a new online securities operation system necessitated the disposal of the assets 
used for the prior operation system. Since the recoverable amount was less than the carrying amount, the difference between the recoverable 
amount and the carrying amount of the assets was recognized as an impairment loss. The amounts of impairment losses for buildings, furniture and 
fixtures, software and leased assets were ¥2 million, ¥16 million, ¥36 million and ¥295 million, respectively.

In the Financial Services Business, the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of assets used for the operation of 
the car-related information site was recognized as an impairment loss due to no expectation of initially expected profits. The amounts of impairment 
losses for buildings, furniture and fixtures, software and other assets were ¥3 million, ¥7 million, ¥138 million and ¥2 million, respectively.

In the Healthcare-related Business, the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of assets used for healthcare opera-
tions was recognized as an impairment loss due to no expectation of initially expected profits. The amounts of impairment losses for buildings, furni-
ture and fixtures, software and other assets were ¥29 million, ¥86 million, ¥233 million and ¥10 million, respectively.

75SBI Holdings, Inc.   Annual Report 2012



(3) Calculation of the recoverable amount
For the assets to be disposed of, the recoverable amount is the net sales value of zero. For the other assets, the recoverable amount is the value in 
use based on the future cash flow.

For the year ended 31 March 2012

Business Category Items Location

Impairment loss 
amount

(Millions of yen)

Financial Services Business Assets for credit card business, etc. Buildings, furniture and fixtures and 
software, etc. Tokyo 105

Housing and Real Estate Business Lease property Buildings and land, etc. Aichi, Fukuoka 128

(1) Grouping of assets
The grouping of assets was generally based on the smallest cash-generating unit that generates cash inflows that are independent of the cash 
inflows from other groups. The grouping of lease property and unutilized assets was based on individual assets.

(2) Background to recognize impairment loss
In the Financial Services Business, the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of assets used for the credit card busi-
ness, etc was recognized as an impairment loss due to no expectation of initially expected profits. The amounts of the impairment losses for build-
ings, furniture and fixtures, software and other assets were ¥2 million, ¥14 million, ¥78 million and ¥9 million, respectively.

In the Housing and Real Estate Business, the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of assets was recognized as 
an impairment loss due to the significant decrease in the price of lease property. The amounts of impairment losses for buildings and land were ¥47 
million and ¥80 million, respectively.

(3) Calculation of the recoverable amount
For lease property, the recoverable amount is calculated with the net sales value by using real estate valuation. For the other assets, the recoverable 
amount is calculated with the value in use based on the future cash flow.

VIII. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Reclassification adjustment and income tax effect on other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2012 is as follows:

(millions of Yen)

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities:

Gains arising during the year 3,480

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss (3,645)

Amount before income tax effect (164)

Income tax effect 1,554

Total 1,389

Deferred gains (losses) on derivatives under hedge accounting:

Gains arising during the year (3)

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss 4

Amount before income tax effect 0

Income tax effect 4

Total 5

Foreign currency translation adjustment:

Adjustments arising during the year (1,438)

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss 155

Total (1,283)

Share of other comprehensive income in associates:
Gains arising during the year (2,218)
Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss 237
Total (1,981)

Total other comprehensive income (1,869)

76 SBI Holdings, Inc.   Annual Report 2012



IX. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

1. Outstanding number of capital stock and treasury stock

Year ended 31 March 2011
As at 31 March 2010 

 (shares)
Increase  
(shares)

Decrease 
(shares)

As at 31 March 2011  
(shares)

Outstanding capital stock 
Common shares (Note) 16,782,291 3,161,727 — 19,944,018

Treasury stock 
Common shares 14,621 — — 14,621

Note: �The increase in common shares of 3,161,727 shares consisted of newly issued 3,112,000 shares of which the settlement date was 23 June 2010, and increase in 49,727 
shares by the exercise of stock acquisition rights.

Year ended 31 March 2012
As at 31 March 2011  

(shares)
Increase  
(shares)

Decrease  
(shares)

As at 31 March 2012  
(shares)

Outstanding capital stock 
Common shares (Note 1) 19,944,018 2,507,285 — 22,451,303

Treasury stock 
Common shares (Notes 2, 3 and 4) 14,621 508,125 80,653 442,093

Notes: 1. �The increase in common shares of 2,507,285 shares consisted of newly issued 2,000,000 shares through an offering of Hong Kong Depositary Receipts, 432,216 shares 
and 74,709 shares, respectively for the acquisition of SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. and SBI Net Systems Co., Ltd. becoming wholly owned subsidiaries through share exchanges 
and 360 shares by the exercise of stock acquisition rights.

2. �As stated in “V. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION,” accounting treatment for the Trust is based upon the assumption that the Company and the Trust are inseparable, thus shares 
held by the Trust were included in the above movement of treasury stock—common shares.

3. �The increase of 508,125 common shares in treasury stock consisted of 321,373 shares acquired as treasury stock subject to Article 156 (replacement of the third paragraph 
of Article 165) of the Companies Act; 60,000 shares acquired in response to the share purchase demand related to the share exchange to make SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. a 
wholly owned subsidiary in accordance with the first paragraph of Article 797 of the Companies Act; 50,116 shares acquired by a subsidiary related to the acquisition of SBI 
Net Systems Co., Ltd., to become a wholly owned subsidiary through share exchange and the remaining 76,636 shares acquired by the Trust.

4. �The decrease of 80,653 common shares in treasury stock consists of reissuance of 74,621 shares to acquire the remaining share of SBI Net Systems Co., Ltd. to make it a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and 6,032 shares sold by the Trust to the employee stockholding association.

2. Stock acquisition rights
Year ended 31 March 2011

Number of shares for stock acquisition rights (shares)

Entity
Details of stock  
acquisition rights Type of share

As at 31  
March 2010 Increase Decrease

As at 31  
March 2011 

As at 31  
March 2011 

(millions of Yen) 

Reporting entity  
(the Company)

Stock acquisition rights 
(Notes 1, 2 and 3)

Common 
shares 313,512.64 6,811.13 66,405.53 253,918.24 —

Consolidated subsidiaries — — — — — — 11
Total — — — — — — 11

Notes: �1. Stock acquisition rights were exercisable during the year ended 31 March 2011. 
2. The increase in stock acquisition rights was due to the adjustment of the number of shares for stock acquisition rights accompanying the issuance of new shares by offering. 
3. The decrease in stock acquisition rights was due to the exercise and expiration of the rights.

Year ended 31 March 2012

Number of shares for stock acquisition rights (shares)

Entity
Details of stock  
acquisition rights Type of share

As at 31  
March 2011 Increase Decrease

As at 31  
March 2012

As at 31  
March 2012 

(millions of Yen) 

Reporting entity  
(the Company)

Stock acquisition rights 
(Notes 1, 2 and 3)

Common 
shares 253,918.24 3,404.10 15,234.16 242,088.18 —

Consolidated subsidiaries — — — — — — 10
Total — — — — — — 10
Notes: �1. Stock acquisition rights were exercisable during the year ended 31 March 2012. 

2. The increase in stock acquisition rights was due to the adjustment of the number of shares for the issuance of new shares through offering of Hong Kong Depositary Receipts. 
3. The decrease in stock acquisition rights was due to the exercise and expiration of the rights.

3. Dividends
Dividends paid
Year ended 31 March 2011

Resolution Type of share
Dividend amount  

(millions of Yen)
Amount per share  

(Yen) Declared date Effective date

Board of Directors’ Meeting 
on 26 May 2010 Common shares 1,676 100 31 March 2010 14 June 2010
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Year ended 31 March 2012

Resolution Type of share
Dividend amount  

(millions of Yen)
Amount per share  

(Yen) Declared date Effective date

Board of Directors’ Meeting 
on 27 April 2011 Common shares 2,391 120 31 March 2011 9 June 2011

Dividend whose declared date fell in the year ended 31 March 2012, and whose effective date will be in the year ended 31 March 2013

Resolution Type of share 
Dividend amount 

(millions of Yen) Dividend resource
Amount per share 

(Yen) Declared date Effective date 

Board of Directors’ Meeting 
on 26 April 2012 Common shares 2,207

Retained 
earnings 100 31 March 2012 7 June 2012

X. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

1. Cash and cash equivalents reconciliation
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Cash and deposits 150,268 146,055
Time deposits with original maturity of more than three months (1,623) (629)
Money Market Fund (MMF) included in trading instruments 142 168
Deposit included in others (current assets) 0 —
Cash and cash equivalents  148,786 145,594

2. Cash paid/received resulting from change in scope of consolidation
For the year ended 31 March 2011
The followings are details of the business combination, acquisition of SBI Global Investment Co., Ltd.:

millions of Yen

Current assets 1,562
Non-current assets 47
Goodwill 281
Current liabilities (604)
Minority interests (601)
Consideration paid for stocks of SBI Global Investment Co., Ltd. 685
Carrying value of previously held equity interest (493)
Loss arising from remeasurement of the previously held equity interest 189
Cash and cash equivalents of SBI Global investment Co., Ltd. (133)
Difference: Net cash paid in acquisition of SBI Global investment Co., Ltd. 248

For the year ended 31 March 2012
The followings are details of the sale of stock of SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd., a former subsidiary:

millions of Yen

Current assets 9,139
Non-current assets 970
Goodwill 1,576
Current liabilities (7,225)
Non-current liabilities (11)
Minority interests (69)
Gains arising from selling stocks 8,618
Consideration to be received from sales of stocks of SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. 13,000
Accounts receivable—others (13,000)
Cash and cash equivalents of SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. (7,493)
Difference: Cash paid from sales of investment in SBI VeriTrans Co. Ltd. (7,493)
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XI. NOTES TO LEASE TRANSACTIONS

LESSEE
1. Finance lease
Finance lease transactions commenced before 31 March 2008 that did not transfer ownership are accounted for in a manner similar to an operating 
lease transaction. The information regarding these leases is as follows:
(a) Pro forma information of leased assets, on an “as if capitalized” basis as at 31 March 2011 and 2012

As at 31 March 2011
Acquisition costs  

(millions of Yen)
Accumulated depreciation 

(millions of Yen)
Carrying amount  

(millions of Yen)

Buildings 660 579 81
Furniture and fixtures 909 759 149
Software 208 181 27
Total 1,779 1,520 258

As at 31 March 2012
Acquisition costs  

(millions of Yen)
Accumulated depreciation 

(millions of Yen)
Carrying amount  

(millions of Yen)

Buildings 660 608 52
Furniture and fixtures 193 173 20
Software 0 0 0
Total 855 782 73

(b) Obligation balances under finance leases

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Due within one year 213 76
Due after one year 125 49
Total 339 125

Note: The above information included obligations under finance leases, which were not cancellable for sub-lease contracts.

(c) Lease payments, reversal of accumulated impairment losses, depreciation, interest expenses and impairment losses:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Lease payments 1,076 226
Reversal of accumulated impairment losses 295 —
Depreciation 976 182
Interest expenses 27 11
Impairment losses 295 —

(d) Depreciation method
Leased assets were depreciated by using the straight-line method over the lease terms with a residual value of zero.

(e) Calculation of interest expenses
The difference between total lease payments and the acquisition cost was assumed to be interest expense and the interest method was used to 
allocate interest expense to each year.

2. Operating lease
Future lease payments on operating lease contracts, which were not cancellable:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Due within one year 0 —
Due after one year — —
Total 0 —
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LESSOR
1. Net investments in leases

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Leases receivable 9,373 5,188
Estimated residual values 14 —
Unearned interest income (413) (172)
Investment in leases, current 8,974 5,016

2. �Maturity analysis for leases receivable for finance leases that transfer ownership of the leased assets to  
the lessee

As at 31 March 2011 Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years Over 5 years

Leases receivable  
(millions of Yen) 2,650 2,029 1,374 1,010 500 —

Investments in leases  
(millions of Yen) 2,403 2,110 1,899 1,770 1,150 39

As at 31 March 2012 Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years Over 5 years

Leases receivable  
(millions of Yen) 2,933 2,270 1,912 1,430 604 —

Investments in leases  
(millions of Yen) 1,607 1,418 1,294 823 45 —

3. Future lease payments to be received under operating leases, which were not cancellable
As at 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Within one year 0 —
Over one year — —
Total 0 —

4. �Leases receivable and lease investment assets, and lease obligations under a sublease transaction recorded 
at cost including the interest portion

(a) Leases receivable and lease investment assets

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Current assets 5,665 2,770

(b) Lease obligation

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Current liabilities 1,167 723
Non-current liabilities 3,984 1,990

XII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

1. Details of the financial instruments
(1) Group Policy for Financial Instruments
The Group engages in a wide range of finance-related businesses, such as investment business, fund management business, securities business, 
leasing business, loan business, credit card business and insurance businesses, to avoid excessive concentration of risk on specific entities or busi-
nesses. To operate these businesses, the Group raises funds by indirect financing such as bank borrowing, direct financing such as bond issuance 
and equity financing, and transactions with securities financing companies. The Group also considers the market environment and maintains an 
appropriate strategy for short and long-term financing.

The Group and certain consolidated subsidiaries utilize derivative instruments, including foreign currency forward contracts, interest rate swaps, 
index futures, and foreign currency spot contracts.

80 SBI Holdings, Inc.   Annual Report 2012



The Group entered into foreign currency forward contracts and interest swap transactions primarily to hedge foreign exchange risk and to 
manage its interest rate exposures on borrowings, respectively. The Group does not hold or issue them for speculative purpose. Index futures and 
commodity futures were entered for the purpose of day trading or capping the size of their transactions. Index futures were mainly for daily trading 
under limited trading scales. Foreign currency spot contracts were entered into for managing the exposures on foreign currency brokerage transac-
tions. The transactions were conducted with individually counterparties based on the Group’s “Position Management Rule.”

(2) Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments
Financial assets held by the Group primarily consist of investment-related assets, securities-related assets and financing-related assets.

Investment-related assets include short-term investment securities, operational investment securities, and investment securities, which primarily 
represent investment in stocks and funds. These assets are held through the Company or certain consolidated subsidiaries (including the consoli-
dated investment funds) of the Company for the purpose of fostering the development of venture capital portfolio companies or earning capital 
gains. These assets are exposed to the issuer’s credit risk and the stock price fluctuation risk. Furthermore, unlisted equity securities are exposed to 
liquidity risk and investment assets denominated in foreign currency are exposed to the risk of exchange fluctuations.

Securities-related assets consist of trading instruments, margin transaction assets, short-term guarantee deposits and cash segregated as 
deposits. These assets are exposed to the credit risk and the interest rate risk of the brokerage customers of some of the consolidated subsidiaries, 
securities financing companies, and financial institutions.

Financing-related assets consist of operational loans receivable, leases receivable and lease investment assets and accounts receivable. These 
assets include real estate loans for domestic companies and individuals, unsecured personal loans, leases receivable and lease investment assets 
for operational companies and the receivable arising from the sales of the leasing business or credit card business. These assets are exposed to the 
interest rate risk and credit risk of accounts such as default due to worsening economic conditions with higher credit risk exposure.

Financial liabilities of the Group primarily consist of loans payable, bonds payable and securities-related liabilities. The loans payable of the Group 
are exposed to liquidity risk from changes in the pricing policy of the financial institutions to the Group. Also, the bonds payable are monitored due to 
liquidity risk from market conditions or reducing credit rating of the Group.

Securities-related liabilities consist of margin transaction liabilities, loans payable secured by securities on repurchase agreement transactions, 
guarantee deposits received from margin transactions, and deposits from customers. The financing environment of the security business operated 
by the Group’s certain subsidiaries is affected by the business policy of security financing companies and their investment strategy. The Group exer-
cises control by matching the financing with the related security assets.

The Group enters into foreign currency forward contracts and interest swap transactions primarily to hedge foreign exchange risk associated with 
receivables, payables and securities denominated in foreign currencies and to manage its interest rate exposures on borrowings, respectively.

The Group manages index futures as a part of investment business which is exposed to market risk. Because the counterparties of foreign cur-
rency forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements are limited to creditworthy major Japanese financial institutions and index futures are 
traded in the public market, the credit risk arising from default is considered to be minimal.

The Group also enters into foreign currency spot contracts in the course of ordinary operations, and for hedging risks arising from the business. 
The transactions are subject to interest rate risks and foreign currency risks as well as exposed to credit risks with customers and credit and settle-
ment risks with counterparties.

(3) Risk Management System over Financial Instruments
In order to maintain financial strength and appropriate operational procedures, the Company has risk management policies to identify, analyze and 
manage the relevant risks integrally. The management policies for credit risk, market risk, and liquidity risk are as follows:
Credit risk management
(a) Accurately analyze financial conditions of investees/debtors and quantity of relevant credit risk.
(b) Appropriately manage the Group’s own capital and the related risks by periodic monitoring.
(c) �Under foreign investments or lending transaction, the Group identifies intrinsic risk of investees/debtors through with domestic/foreign offices as 

well as overseas partners followed by periodic monitoring.
(d) �Recognize investment risk as significant risk to be controlled among various credit risks and perform detailed analysis of fluctuation in risk associ-

ated with operational investment securities.
Market risk management
(a) Understand underlying currency and term of assets and quantify market risk.
(b) Appropriately manage the balance between the Group’s own capital and its related risk by periodic monitoring.
(c) Never enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes in absence of established operating rules.
Liquidity risk management
(a) Secure various financing arrangements such as bank overdraft facility, bond issuance registration or stock issuance.
(b) Collect information on the Group’s working capital requirement and understand the cash flow positions.
(c) �Obtain reports from the department responsible for cash management based upon the liquidity risk management policies stated in (a) and (b) 

above to monitor cash flow risks.
Under these policies, the Company assigns a risk management officer who is in charge of risk management and sets up a risk management 
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department in line with the risk management rules and the Group’s risk control rules in order to properly analyze and control these risks. The risk 
management department analyzes and monitors the Group’s risk on a timely basis.

(4) Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Fair values of financial instruments are based on the quoted market price. If the quoted market price is not available, fair values are calculated with 
valuation techniques which are considered to be reasonable. As the fair value determination takes variable factors into consideration, such fair values 
may fluctuate by using different assumptions. Please see section “XIV. DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS” for the details of fair value of derivatives.

2. Fair value of financial instruments
The tables below presents the carrying amounts, the fair value of the financial instruments, and the difference between the carrying amounts and fair 
value as at 31 March 2011 and 2012.

The tables below do not include assets and liabilities which cannot be measured at fair value due to difficulties in determining fair value (refer to 
Note 2).

As at 31 March 2011 As at 31 March 2012
Carrying amount Fair value Difference Carrying amount Fair value Difference

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

(1) Cash and deposits 150,268 150,268 — 146,055 146,055 —
(2) �Notes and accounts 

receivable—trade 10,658 10,549 (108) 11,106 11,038 (68)
(3) �Leases receivable and lease 

investment assets 16,166 16,300 134 13,829 13,903 73
(4) �Short-term investment securi-

ties, operational investment 
securities and investment 
securities 

Available-for-sale securities 60,546 60,546 — 58,918 58,918 —
Securities in affiliates 5,068 3,314 (1,753) 5,165 3,417 (1,747)

(5) Cash segregated as deposits 347,865 347,865 — 663,065 663,065 —
(6) Operational loans receivable 27,905 42,281

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (*1) (896) (548)

27,009 28,322 1,312 41,732 42,754 1,021
(7) Trading instruments

Trading securities 222 222 — 296 296 —
(8) Margin transaction assets 250,399 250,399 — 260,048 260,048 —
(9) Short-term guarantee deposits 5,235 5,235 — 16,800 16,800 —
Assets, total  873,441 873,025 (415) 1,217,019 1,216,298 (720)

(1) Short-term loans payable 97,164 97,164 — 103,915 103,915 —
(2) Accrued income taxes 4,574 4,574 — 4,875 4,875 —
(3) Margin transaction liabilities 143,757 143,757 — 170,800 170,800 —
(4) �Loans payable secured by 

securities 61,797 61,797 — 76,592 76,592 —
(5) Guarantee deposits received 309,134 309,134 — 289,405 289,405 —
(6) Deposits from customers 37,819 37,819 — 347,952 347,952 —
(7) Bonds payable (*2) 70,600 70,600 — 90,540 91,038 498
(8) Long-term loans payable (*3) 43,514 43,537 22 36,654 36,491 (163)
Liabilities, total 768,362 768,385 22 1,120,736 1,121,072 335
Derivatives (*4) 2,367 2,367 — 1,191 1,191 —

Notes: (*1) Includes general reserve and specific reserve for operational loans receivable. 
	 (*2) Includes current-portion of bonds payable.
	 (*3) Includes current-portion of long-term loans payable.
	 (*4) Receivables and payables arising from derivative transactions are stated at net value in the tables above.

NOTES:
(1) Calculation of fair value of financial instruments, investment securities and derivatives
(a) Assets

(i)	 (1) Cash and deposits, (5) Cash segregated as deposits, and (9) Short-term guarantee deposits
The fair values are measured at the carrying values as they approximate the carrying values because of their short maturities.
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(ii)	 (2) Notes and accounts receivable—trade
With respect to notes and accounts receivable with short maturities, fair values are measured at the carrying values as they approximate the 
carrying values.

The fair values of receivables settled over long-term periods such as installment sales receivable are measured at the present value of the 
future cash inflow discounted at the discount rate considering government risk-free rates and credit risk rates.

(iii)	(3) Leases receivable and lease investment assets
The fair values of leases receivable and lease investment assets are measured at the present value of the future cash inflow discounted at the 
discount rate considering government risk-free rates and credit risk rates.

(iv)	(4) Short-term investment securities, operational investment securities and investment securities and (7) Trading instruments
The fair values of equity securities are measured at the quoted market price of the stock exchange. The fair values of bonds are measured at 
the quoted market price of the stock exchange or the quoted price provided by financial institutions. The fair values of investment trusts are 
measured at the price quoted by financial institutions. The fair values of investments in funds are measured at the fair values of partnership net 
assets based on the Group’s percentage of share in the contributed capital, if such fair values are available. Unlisted available-for-sale securi-
ties held by certain overseas subsidiaries adopting International Financial Reporting Standards are measured at fair value.

(v)	(6) Operational loans receivable
The fair values of operational loans receivable are measured at the present value of the future cash inflows, which are classified into different 
types of receivables and discounted at the rate determined by reference to an appropriate index such as a government bond yield adjusted 
with relevant credit risk.

As the estimated credit losses are provided based on the individual assessment of recoverability of loans receivable held by certain con-
solidated subsidiaries with corporate restructuring business, the fair values are measured at the carrying values less allowance for doubtful 
accounts since they approximate the measured values.

(vi)	(8) Margin transaction assets
With respect to receivables from customers of margin transaction assets, the fair values are measured at the carrying value as the interest 
rates of the loans are floating rates and reflect the market interest rate within a short period so that, unless the borrower’s credit condition 
changes significantly, the fair values are considered to approximate the carrying value.

Of these receivables, the fair values of those without set maturity dates due to certain conditions, such as the placing of a cap on the 
amount of loans which does not exceed the value of pledged assets, are measured at the carrying value. Based on the expected repayment 
term and the terms of interest, the fair values are considered to approximate the carrying values. With respect to cash collateral pledged for 
securities borrowings on margin transactions, the fair values are measured at the carrying value because of their short maturities.

(b) Liabilities
The fair values of liabilities other than (7) Bonds payable and (8) Long-term loans payable are measured at the carrying values as they approxi-
mate the carrying values because of their short maturities.
(i)	 (7) Bonds payable

With respect to bonds payable with floating interest rates, the fair values are measured at the carrying value as the interest rates of the debt 
reflect the market interest rate within a short period and as the credit condition of companies that obtained the debt are not expected to 
change significantly.

With respect to bonds payable with fixed interest rates, the fair values are measured at the present value of the future cash outflows con-
sidering the remaining periods and the discount rate adjusted with credit risks.

With respect to bonds payable with maturity of within one year, the fair values are measured at the carrying values as they approximate the 
carrying values because of their short maturities.

(ii)	 (8) Long-term loans payable
With respect to long-term loans payable with floating interest rates, the fair values are measured at the carrying value as the interest rates of 
the debt reflect the market interest rate within a short period and as the credit conditions of consolidated subsidiaries that obtained the debt 
are not expected to change significantly.

With respect to long-term loans payable with fixed interest rates, the fair values are measured at the present value of the future cash out-
flows, where the sum of principal and interest at certain intervals, or the sum of principal and interest determined using interest swap rates for 
which the special hedge accounting treatment is used, is discounted at the discount rate that may be applicable for similar types of debt.

(c) Derivatives
The information of the fair value for derivatives is included in section “XIV. DERIVARTIVE CONTRACTS.”
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(2) �The following securities were stated at cost because the fair values could not be reliably determined. They were excluded from “Assets-(iv) (4) 
Short-term investment securities, operational investment securities and investment securities” of “Fair value of financial instruments.”

As at 31 March 2011

Classification
Carrying amount

(millions of Yen)

Available-for-sale securities
Non-fair valued equity securities (*1) 82,363
Non-fair valued bonds

Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights (*2) 2,200
Investments in funds (*3) 6,032
Stock acquisition rights (*2) 946
Total 91,543

Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates
Unlisted equity securities (*1) 38,043
Investments in funds (*3) 351
Total 38,395

As at 31 March 2012

Classification
Carrying amount

(millions of Yen)

Available-for-sale securities
Non-fair valued equity securities (*1) 89,670
Non-fair valued bonds
Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights (*2) 1,941
Investments in funds (*3) 7,161
Stock acquisition rights (*2) 943
Total 99,716

Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates
Unlisted equity securities (*1) 45,554
Investments in funds (*3) 366
Total 45,921

(*1) Unlisted equity securities were excluded from the fair value disclosure as there was no market value and it was extremely difficult to measure the fair value.
(*2) �Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights were excluded from the fair value disclosure as there was no market value and it was extremely difficult to estimate the future cash 

flow as a basis of fair value.
(*3) �Investments in funds whose investments were mainly composed of unlisted equity securities were excluded from the fair value disclosure as it was extremely difficult to measure 

the fair value of unlisted equity.
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(3) Maturity analysis for financial assets and securities with contractual maturities

(millions of Yen)

As at 31 March 2011 Within one year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years Over 5 years

Cash and deposits 150,268 — — — — —
Notes and accounts 
receivable—trade 9,090 847 394 189 135 0

Short-term investment securities, 
operational investment securities 
and investment securities with 
maturity dates

Debt securities (corporate bonds) 207 50 1,442 — — —
Cash segregated as deposits 347,865 — — — — —
Operational loans receivable 18,420 2,538 2,471 773 956 2,744
Margin transaction assets 250,399 — — — — —
Short-term guarantee deposits 5,235 — — — — —
Total 781,487 3,436 4,308 963 1,092 2,745

(millions of Yen)

As at 31 March 2012 Within one year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years Over 5 years

Cash and deposits 146,055 — — — — —
Notes and accounts 
receivable—trade 8,798 989 541 327 168 281

Short-term investment securities, 
operational investment securities 
and investment securities with 
maturity dates

Debt securities (corporate bonds) 262 276 1,408 — — —
Cash segregated as deposits 663,065 — — — — —
Operational loans receivable 34,350 2,272 1,331 938 896 2,491
Margin transaction assets  260,048 — — — — —
Short-term guarantee deposits 16,800 — — — — —
Total 1,129,382 3,538 3,280 1,265 1,064 2,772

(*) Maturities of leases receivable and lease investment assets after the balance sheet date are described in the “Notes to lease transactions for the consolidated financial statements.”

(4) Maturity analysis for long-term loans payable and other interest-bearing debt after the balance sheet date

(millions of Yen)

As at 31 March 2011 Within one year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years Over 5 years

Short-term loans payable  97,164 — — — — —
Margin transaction liabilities
Borrowings on margin 
transactions 70,386 — — — — —

Bonds payable  
(including current portion) 70,060 60 60 60 60 300

Long-term loans payable  12,147 18,315 4,918 1,065 6,700 365
Total 249,758 18,375 4,978 1,125 6,760 665

(millions of Yen)

As at 31 March 2012 Within one year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years Over 5 years

Short-term loans payable  103,915 — — — — —
Margin transaction liabilities
Borrowings on margin 
transactions 76,007 — — — — —

Bonds payable  
(including current portion) 60,060 60 30,060 60 60 240

Long-term loans payable  19,888 2,936 6,161 6,970 697 —
Total 259,871 2,996 36,221 7,030 757 240
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XIII. SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2011
1. Trading instruments
Valuation losses of ¥14 million were included in income for the year ended 31 March 2011.

2. Available-for-sale securities with fair values

Type
Carrying amount

(millions of Yen)
Acquisition costs

(millions of Yen)
Difference

(millions of Yen)

Carrying amount exceeds  
acquisition cost

(1) Equity securities 6,430 4,633 1,797
(2) �Debt securities  

  Corporate bonds 52 50 2
(3) Others 9,143 5,554 3,588

Sub-total 15,626 10,238 5,388
Carrying amount does not  
exceed acquisition cost

(1) Equity securities 104,008 113,662 (9,654)
(2) �Debt securities  

  Corporate bonds 3,851 3,851 —
(3) Others 28,603 29,333 (730)

Sub-total 136,463 146,847 (10,384)
Total 152,090 157,085 (4,995)

3. Available-for-sale securities sold during the year

Securities
Proceeds from sales

(millions of Yen)
Gains on sales

(millions of Yen)
Losses on sales

(millions of Yen)

(1) Equity securities 11,888 6,199 967
(2) Debt securities

Corporate bonds 6 1 —
Others   — — —

(3) Others   — — —
Total 11,895 6,200 967

4. Impairment loss on securities
As impairment loss on equity securities of ¥2,174 million (¥1,858 million on available-for-sale securities and ¥315 million on investments in subsidiar-
ies and affiliates) was recorded during the year 2011.

For the year ended 31 March 2012
1. Trading instruments
Valuation gains of ¥12 million were included in income for the year ended 31 March 2012.

2. Available-for-sale securities with fair values

Type
Carrying amount

(millions of Yen)
Acquisition costs

(millions of Yen)
Difference

(millions of Yen)

Carrying amount exceeds  
acquisition cost

(1) Equity securities 3,835 2,336 1,498
(2) �Debt securities  

  Corporate bonds 50 50 0
(3) Others 11,731 8,029 3,701

Sub-total 15,617 10,416 5,200
Carrying amount does not  
exceed acquisition cost

(1) Equity securities 117,678 119,754 (2,075)
(2) �Debt securities  

  Corporate bonds 3,837 3,838 (1)
(3) Others 21,501 22,586 (1,084)

Sub-total 143,017 146,179 (3,162)
Total 158,634 156,595 2,038
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3. Available-for-sale securities sold during the year

Securities
Proceeds from sales

(millions of Yen)
Gains on sales

(millions of Yen)
Losses on sales

(millions of Yen)

(1) Equity securities 30,234 19,648 1,902
(2) Debt securities

Corporate bonds  664 — 28
Others — — —

(3) Others 848 1 —
Total  31,748 19,649 1,931

4. Impairment loss on securities
As impairment loss on equity securities of ¥4,032 million (¥4,032 million on available-for-sale securities) was recorded during the year 2012.

XIV. DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2011 and 2012
1. Derivatives not subject to hedge accounting policy
(1) Foreign currency related

As at 31 March 2011

Type Transaction
Contractual amounts

(millions of Yen)
Over 1 year

(millions of Yen)
Fair value

(millions of Yen)
Valuation gains (losses)

(millions of Yen)

Transactions outside market Foreign currency 
forward contracts
Short 85 — (0) (0)
Long 91 — (0) (0)

Foreign currency spot 
contracts
Short 187,335 — 73 73
Long 184,683 — 2,294 2,294

Total — — 2,367 2,367

As at 31 March 2012

Type Transaction
Contractual amounts

(millions of Yen)
Over 1 year

(millions of Yen)
Fair value

(millions of Yen)
Valuation gains (losses)

(millions of Yen)

Transactions outside market Foreign currency 
forward contracts
Short 59 — 0 0
Long 138 — (0) (0)

Foreign currency spot 
contracts
Short 276,916 — (226) (226)
Long 275,697 — 1,422 1,422

Total — — 1,195 1,195

The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts was stated based on the future exchange rate at the balance sheet date, whereas the fair 
value of foreign currency spot contracts was based on the spot rate at the balance sheet date. 

(2) Securities related
As at 31 March 2011

Type Transaction
Contractual amounts

(millions of Yen)
Over 1 year

(millions of Yen)
Fair value

(millions of Yen)
Valuation gains (losses)

(millions of Yen)

Market transactions Index futures 
Short 68 — (0) (0)

As at 31 March 2012

Type Transaction
Contractual amounts

(millions of Yen)
Over 1 year

(millions of Yen)
Fair value

(millions of Yen)
Valuation gains (losses)

(millions of Yen)

Market transactions Index futures 
Short 4 — 1 1

Transactions outside market Option transaction 
Long 27 — 7 7

Total — — 9 9
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The fair value of index futures was based on the market closing price at the balance sheet date in each stock market.

2. Derivatives subject to hedge accounting
As at 31 March 2011

Hedge accounting method Transaction Hedged balance
Contract amounts

(millions of Yen)
Over 1 year

(millions of Yen)
Fair value

(millions of Yen)

Deferred method of interest 
rate swap 

Interest rate swaps
Variable receipt fixed 
payment Bonds payable 600 540 (14)

Interest rate swap Interest rate swaps
Variable receipt fixed 
payment

Long-term loans 
payable 5,480 3,460 (Note 2)

As at 31 March 2012

Hedge accounting method Transaction Hedged balance
Contract amounts

(millions of Yen)
Over 1 year

(millions of Yen)
Fair value

(millions of Yen)

Deferred method of interest 
rate swap

Interest rate swaps
Variable receipt fixed 
payment Bonds payable 540 480 (13)

Interest rate swap Interest rate swaps
Variable receipt fixed 
payment

Long-term loans 
payable 6,660 4,268 (Note 2)

Note:	1. �Fair values were measured at the quoted market price of the stock exchange or the quoted market price provided by financial institutions.
	 2. �For certain loans payable for which interest rate swaps were used to hedge the interest rate fluctuations, the fair values of derivative financial instruments were included in the 

fair value of loans payable as hedged items.

XV. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has a contributory funded defined benefit pension plan and a defined contribution pension plan. Certain of the Group’s domestic consoli-
dated subsidiaries have tax-qualified plans, non-contributory funded defined pension plans and either a contributory funded defined benefit pension 
plan or a defined contribution pension plan for the employee’s retirement plan.

1. �Detail of the multi-employer plans for which the required contribution amounts were expensed as incurred 
(latest information)

(a) Total pension funding status:
Kanto IT Software Health Insurance Society

As at 31 March
2010 2011

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Plan assets 161,054 171,944
Benefit obligation 159,998 172,108
Difference 1,055 (163)

Note: The latest available information one year before the closing date is presented above.

(b) The percentage of participants of the Group to the above pension plan:

(As at 31 March 2010) (As at 31 March 2011)

Kanto IT Software Health Insurance Society 1.10% 1.23%
Note: The latest available information one year before the closing date is presented above.

2. Liability for employees’ retirement benefits
The following is related to the defined benefit pension plan and tax qualified pension plan for certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries.

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

(a) Projected benefit obligations (118) (19)
(b) Fair value of plan assets 48 2
(c) Provision for retirement benefits ((a) + (b)) (69) (16)
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3. Retirement benefit expense
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Contribution to pension funds (Note 1) 122 131
Service cost (Note 2) 41 12
Contributions to the defined contribution pension plan (Note 3) 292 303
Total 456 447

Notes: (1) Contribution amounted to multi-employer pension funds.
(2) �Retirement benefit expense of certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries which applied the compendium method. 
(3) Contribution to the defined benefit pension plan and prepayment to the pension plan.

4. Basis for calculation of retirement benefit obligation
Certain domestic subsidiaries, which apply either the defined benefit pension plan or tax-qualified pension plan, use the simplified method for the 
calculation of retirement obligation.

XVI. STOCK OPTION PLAN

Outlines and details of the stock option plan

Stock Option
Number of Options 

Outstanding Date of Grant Exercise Price Exercise Period

2001 Stock Option — 2002.2.1 ¥19,117*1 From 20 December 2003 to  
19 December 2011

2002 Stock Option (1) 12,427.44 shares 2002.12.20 ¥  5,502*1 From 20 December 2004 to  
19 December 2012

2003 Stock Option (1) 21,025.04 shares 2003.9.25 ¥16,436*1 From 20 December 2004 to  
19 December 2012

2003 Stock Option (2) 59,137.81 shares 2003.9.25 ¥16,436*1 From 24 June 2005 to  
23 June 2013

2003 Stock Option (3) 16,618.77 shares 2003.10.23 ¥25,422*1 From 24 June 2005 to  
23 June 2013

2005 Stock Option (1) 22,984 shares 2005.7.28 ¥32,246*1 From 28 July 2005 to  
29 June 2013

*1 Due to the new stock issuance through an offering of Hong Kong Depositary Receipts, the exercise price and the number of objective stock were adjusted.

Stock Options Assumed by the Company due to Mergers and Acquisitions

Stock Option
Number of Options 

Outstanding Date of Grant Exercise Price Exercise Period

E*TRADE Japan K.K. Stock Option 49,657.86 shares 2002.7.1 ¥11,104*1 From 21 June 2004 to  
20 June 2012

SBI HOME Planner Co., LTD.  
2003 Stock Option

535.86 shares 2004.4.15 ¥20,170*1 From 28 June 2005 to  
27 June 2013

SBI Partners Co., Inc.  
2005 Stock Option

596.20 shares 2005.11.29 ¥34,080*1 From 1 December 2005 to  
31 October 2013

FINANCE ALL CORPORATION  
2002 Stock Option

1,840 shares 2002.9.25 ¥  4,465 From 25 September 2004 to  
24 September 2012

FINANCE ALL CORPORATION  
2003 Stock Option

5,080 shares 2003.8.2 ¥  4,465 From 2 August 2005 to  
1 August 2013

WORLD NICHIEI Securities Co., LTD.  
2003 Stock Option

172.50 shares 2003.7.15 ¥15,989*1 From 1 July 2005 to  
26 June 2013

WORLD NICHIEI FRONTIER Securities Co., LTD. 
2004 Stock Option

18,667.95 shares 2004.6.29 ¥46,122*1 From 30 June 2006 to  
29 June 2014

WORLD NICHIEI FRONTIER Securities Co., LTD. 
2004 Stock Option

34.50 shares 2004.12.22 ¥29,338*1 From 30 June 2006 to  
29 June 2014

SBI Securities Co., Ltd.  
2005 Stock Option

18,211.40 shares 2005.7.4 ¥43,164*1 From 30 June 2007 to  
29 June 2015

SBIH (3) Stock Option 13,432.77 shares 2008.8.1 ¥44,388*1 From 1 August 2008 to  
23 June 2013

SBIH (4) Stock Option 1,666.08 shares 2008.8.1 ¥51,954*1 From 1 August 2008 to  
23 June 2013

Total 242,088.18 shares

*1 Due to the new stock issuance through an offering of Hong Kong Depositary Receipts, the exercise price is adjusted. 
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Stock Options Issued by Consolidated Subsidiaries

Stock Option

Number of Options  
Outstanding  
(Non-vested) Date of Grant Exercise Price Exercise Period

SBI Mortgage Co., Ltd.
Stock Option (1) 47,000 shares 

(47,000 shares)
2005.5.25 ¥       750*2 From 26 May 2007 to  

25 May 2015
SBI Life Living Co., Ltd.
Stock Option (2) 19 shares 2005.8.29 ¥100,000 From 30 August 2007 to 

 29 August 2015
Stock Option (3) 960 shares 2008.6.1 ¥270,834 From 1 June 2008 to  

31 March 2013*3

Total 979 shares

SBI Biotech Co., Ltd.
Stock Option (1) 620 shares 

(620 shares)
2002.10.15 ¥    5,000 30 months after 6 months 

passed from the IPO
Stock Option (2) 536 shares 

(536 shares)
2002.10.15 ¥    5,000 From 15 October 2004 to  

31 August 2012
Stock Option (5) 90 shares 

(90 shares)
2005.9.28 ¥175,000 From 29 September 2005 to  

30 August 2015
Total 1,246 shares 

(1,246 shares)

SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd.
2004 Stock Option — 2004.2.13 ¥    5,741 From 13 February 2006 to  

12 February 2014
Morningstar Japan K.K.
2003 Stock Option (1) 2,368 shares 2003.11.5 ¥  57,500 From 20 March 2005 to  

19 March 2013
2006 Stock Option (2) 250 shares 2006.4.21 ¥133,500 From 24 March 2008 to  

23 March 2016
Total 2,618 shares

Gomez Consulting Co., Ltd.
2003 Stock Option — 2003.3.15 ¥  44,250 From 15 March 2005 to  

14 March 2013
2005 Stock Option — 2005.6.15 ¥100,000 From 3 June 2007 to  

2 June 2015
Total —

HOMEOSTYLE, Inc.*4

Warrant (1) — 2002.4.5 ¥    9,636 From 1 June 2002 to  
12 March 2012

Warrant (2) — 2004.8.24 ¥    9,636 From 1 June 2002 to  
12 March 2012

TK International Co., Ltd. 
Stock Option (the stock option which was taken 
over by HOMEOSTYLE, Inc. due to the M&A)

— 2004.7.2 ¥  11,903 From 6 July 2006 to  
30 June 2014

Stock Option (3) — 2005.2.28 ¥  16,000 From 1 March 2007 to  
24 February 2015

Stock Option (4) — 2006.3.31 ¥  19,000 From 1 April 2008 to  
25 March 2016

Total —
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Stock Option

Number of Options  
Outstanding  
(Non-vested) Date of Grant Exercise Price Exercise Period

Autoc one K.K.
Stock Option (1) 5,850 shares 

(5,850 shares)
2002.12.27 ¥  10,000 From 1 November 2004 to  

30 September 2012
Stock Option (3) 1,200 shares

(1,200 shares)
2004.10.29 ¥  50,000 From 1 August 2006 to  

31 May 2014
Stock Option (4) 200 shares

(200 shares)
2005.2.25 ¥  50,000 From 1 August 2006 to  

31 May 2014
Stock Option (5) 100 shares

(100 shares)
2005.4.20 ¥  50,000 From 1 August 2006 to  

31 May 2014
Stock Option (6) 50 shares

(50 shares)
2005.4.20 ¥  50,000 From 1 August 2006 to  

31 May 2014
Stock Option (7) 990 shares

(990 shares)
2006.4.20 ¥  50,000 From 28 June 2007 to  

27 June 2015
Stock Option (8) 10 shares

(10 shares)
2008.3.28 ¥  60,000 From 29 June 2010 to  

28 June 2017
Total 8,400 shares

(8,400 shares)

SBI Trade Win Tech Co., Ltd.
Warrant (2) 1,000 shares

(1,000 shares)
2000.10.20 ¥  50,000 From 1 January 2001 to  

16 April 2012
Warrant (3) 320 shares

(320 shares)
2002.4.17 ¥460,000 From 18 April 2002 to  

16 April 2012
Total 1,320 shares

(1,320 shares)

Shinsai Partners Inc.

Stock Option (1) 674 shares
(674 shares)

2006.8.1 ¥  50,000 From 2 August 2008 to  
15 July 2016

Stock Option (2) 20 shares
(20 shares)

2006.9.30 ¥  50,000 From 1 October 2008 to  
15 July 2016

Stock Option (3) 90 shares
(90 shares)

2006.9.30 ¥  50,000 From 1 October 2008 to  
18 September 2016

Total 784 shares
(784 shares)

*2 The exercise price is adjusted to those after 1 for 10 stock split as at 30 June 2011.
*3 The exercise period is adjusted to 31 March 2016 in accordance with the board resolution on 22 June 2012.
*4 All the shares of HOMEOSTYLE, Inc. held by the Company have been sold during the year ended 31 March 2012.
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The stock option activity for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2012 was as follows:

SBI Holdings, Inc.
(Shares)

SBI Mortgage Co., Ltd.
(Shares)

SBI Life Living Co., Ltd.
(Shares)

SBI Biotech Co., Ltd. 
(Shares)

Year Ended 31 March 2011
Non-vested:

31 March 2010—outstanding 47,000*2 1,246
Granted
Cancelled
Vested

31 March 2011—outstanding 47,000*2 1,246

Vested:
31 March 2010—outstanding 320,323.77 979

Vested
Exercised 49,737.50
Cancelled 16,668.03

31 March 2011—outstanding 253,918.24 979

Year Ended 31 March 2012
Non-vested:

31 March 2011—outstanding 47,000*2 1,246
Granted
Cancelled
Vested

31 March 2012—outstanding 47,000*2 1,246

Vested:
31 March 2011—outstanding 257,322.34*1 979

Vested
Exercised 360.00
Cancelled 14,874.16

31 March 2012—outstanding 242,088.18 979

*1 �Due to the new stock issuance through an offering of Hong Kong Depositary Receipts, the number of objective stock were adjusted, therefore, the adjustments were reflected in the 
number at the beginning balance of the period ended 31 March 2012. 

*2 �The number of options outstanding is adjusted to that after 1 for 10 stock split as at 30 June 2011.
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SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd.
(Shares)

Morningstar Japan K.K.
(Shares)

Gomez Consulting Co., Ltd.
(Shares)

HOMEOSTYLE, Inc.*3

(Shares)

Year Ended 31 March 2011
Non-vested:

31 March 2010—outstanding 18,864
Granted
Cancelled 607
Vested

31 March 2011—outstanding 18,257

Vested:
31 March 2010—outstanding 516 2,954 704

Vested
Exercised 180 370
Cancelled 336

31 March 2011—outstanding 336 2,618 334

Year Ended 31 March 2012
Non-vested:

31 March 2011—outstanding 18,257
Granted
Cancelled 1,107
Vested

31 March 2012—outstanding —*3

Vested:
31 March 2011—outstanding 336 2,618 334

Vested
Exercised 336 40
Cancelled 294

31 March 2012—outstanding — 2,618 —
*3 All the shares of HOMEOSTYLE, Inc. held by the Company have been sold during the year ended 31 March 2012.

Autoc one K.K.
(Shares)

SBI Trade Win Tech  
Co., Ltd.

(Shares)
Shinsai Partners Inc.*4

(Shares)

Year Ended 31 March 2011
Non-vested:

31 March 2010—outstanding 8,800 1,320
Granted
Cancelled 320
Vested

31 March 2011—outstanding 8,480 1,320

Vested:
31 March 2010—outstanding

Vested
Exercised
Cancelled

31 March 2011—outstanding

Year Ended 31 March 2012
Non-vested:

31 March 2011—outstanding 8,480 1,320 —
Granted
Cancelled 80
Vested

31 March 2012—outstanding 8,400 1,320 784*4

Vested:
31 March 2011—outstanding

Vested
Exercised
Cancelled

31 March 2012—outstanding
*4 Shinsai Partners Inc. has been included in the scope of consolidation from the year ended 31 March 2012.
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XVII. NOTES TO INCOME TAXES

1. Major components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Deferred tax assets—Current
Losses on valuation of investment securities (current assets) 2,807 1,305
Provision of allowance for investment losses (current assets) 1,809 1,094
Tax loss carried forward 1,523 3,296
Accrued enterprise taxes 471 457
Elimination of unrealized profit 8,550 2,406
Others 459 2,159
Subtotal 15,622 10,720
Valuation allowance (1,284) (1,623)

Total deferred tax assets—Current 14,337 9,097
Deferred tax assets (investment and other assets)

Tax loss carried forward 16,644 17,337
Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts 1,799 1,733
Losses on valuation of investment securities (non-current assets) 4,034 3,433
Statutory reserve for financial products transaction liabilities 2,209 1,931
Elimination of unrealized profit 743 8,302
Others 1,985 2,282
Subtotal 27,415 35,021
Valuation allowance (13,837) (19,455)

Total deferred tax assets (investment and other assets) 13,578 15,566
Total deferred tax assets   27,916 24,663

Deferred tax liabilities—Current
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities (3,313) (1,719)

Total deferred tax liabilities—Current  (3,313) (1,719)
Deferred tax liabilities—Non-current

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities (998) (345)
Others (173) (119)

Total deferred tax liabilities—Non-current (1,172) (464)
Total deferred tax liabilities (4,486) (2,184)
Net deferred tax assets 23,429 22,479

2. Reconciliation between the normal effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective tax rate
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012

Normal effective tax rate 40.69% 40.69%
Expenses not deductible for income taxes purposes (Entertainment expenses, etc.) 1.49% 3.03%
Amortization of goodwill 64.17% 18.24%

Minority interests in fund, etc. (39.43)% (7.46)%
Income of the equity method (1.23)% (5.90)%
Consolidated adjustments of loss on sale of consolidated subsidiaries (33.05)% (6.80)%
Change in valuation allowance 96.03% 10.53%

Decrease of net deferred tax assets due to the change of the future tax rate — 12.88%
Others—net 1.93% 2.70%
Actual effective tax rate 130.60% 67.91%

3. Impact from the change of the income tax rate 
“Act for Partial Revision of the Income Tax Act, etc. for the Purpose of Creating a Taxation System Responding to Changes in Economic and Social 
Structures” (Act No. 114 of 2011) and “Act on Special Measures for Securing the Financial Resources Necessary to Implement Measures for Recon-
struction following the Great East Japan Earthquake” (Act No. 117 of 2011) were newly promulgated on 2 December 2011. These reform acts 
reduce the effective tax rate used for the calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities from 40.69% to 38.01% and 35.64% for those temporary 
differences expected to reverse within the three fiscal years beginning on or after 1 April 2012 and for the fiscal years beginning on or after 1 April 
2015, respectively. The Tax Reform also sets a ceiling on annual deductions for unused tax carry-forward losses to 80% of annual taxable income for 
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the consolidated fiscal years beginning on or after 1 April 2012.
These changes lead to a decrease in net deferred tax assets of ¥2,265 million and an increase in income tax deferred of ¥2,260 million.

XVIII. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

For the year ended 31 March 2012
Transaction under common control 
Additional acquisition of stocks of SBI Net Systems Co., Ltd. (to becoming wholly owned subsidiary through a 
share exchange)
1. Overview of the transaction

(i)	 Name and business of the targeted company
Name of the targeted company: SBI Net Systems Co., Ltd.
Business nature: System development

(ii)	Date of the business combination
1 February 2012

(iii)	Details of legal form
SBI Net Systems Co., Ltd. will become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company after the business combination through a stock exchange.

(iv)	Company’s name after business combination
No change occurred to the name of the company.

(v)	Objective and outline of the transaction
After SBI Net Systems Co., Ltd. becomes a wholly owned subsidiary, the Group could highly improve the effectiveness and efficiency of its 
operation both domestically and overseas through integration of the subsidiary’s know-how on system development. The share exchange was 
implemented as the business combination is believed to bring synergy in intensifying the Group’s profitability and maximizing value of the 
whole group, so that all the shareholders, clients and business partners would benefit.

2. Applied accounting standard
The transaction was treated as a business combination under common control in accordance with the Accounting Standard for Business Divesti-
tures (ASBJ Statement No. 21, 26 December 2008) and Guidance on Accounting Standard for Business Combination and Divestitures (ASBJ Guid-
ance No. 10, 26 December 2008).

3. Additional acquisition of stocks of subsidiary
(i)	 Consideration and details

Consideration of acquisition The Company’s common shares ¥592 million
Direct acquisition cost Advisory fee ¥    2 million
Total consideration ¥594 million

(ii)	Share exchange ratio according to stock types, its computation basis, granted stocks, and those valuations
Share exchange ratio	 Type of shares: Common shares 
The Company 1: SBI Net Systems 1.25
Computation basis	� The valuations were conducted by KPMG FAS Co., Ltd. on the Company’s side and con-

ducted by HIBIYA & Co. on SBI Net Systems Co., Ltd.’s side as independent sources for the 
share exchange. The share exchange ratio was determined based on the valuation reports 
from both parties.

Exchanged shares	� 149,330 shares (the Company allotted 74,621 shares of treasury stocks it owns and newly 
issued shares for the rest)

(iii)	Amount of goodwill recognized, reason of its occurrence, and amortization method and period
Amount of goodwill recognized	 ¥424 million
Reason of occurrence	� The Company recorded the difference between the consideration and decreasing amount of 

minority interests as goodwill.
Amortization method and period	 Amortized over 20 years by using the straight-line method

Business transfer
Sale of Shares of SBI VeriTrans
(1) Summary of business transfer

(i)	 Name of the company to which the Company sold investments 
Wheel, Inc. (Consolidated subsidiary of Digital Garage Inc.)
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(ii)	Business of company to which the Company sold investments 
Settlement services, etc.

(iii)	Date of business transfer 
30 March 2012

(iv)	Reason of business transfer
A main business segment of Digital Garage Inc. and its consolidated subsidiary (hereinafter referred to as “Digital Garage Group”) is the inte-
gration of advertising/promotion functions with settlement services. In order for Digital Garage Group to further expand this core business 
(settlement function), the Group realized that the best option was to make SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. (which has an expanding settlement service 
business both in Japan and the rest of Asia), one of its subsidiaries, thus the Group transferred all its interest in SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. to 
Digital Garage Group.

(v)	Other matters including the legal structure of the business separation
Transfer of shares by cash as consideration

(2) Summary of accounting treatment
(i)	 Gains or losses on the business transfer 

Gains on sales of investment securities is ¥8,618 million.
(ii)	Assets and liabilities in relation to the business transfer are as follows:

(millions of Yen)

Current assets 9,139
Non-current assets 970
Total assets 10,110
Current liabilities 7,225
Non-current liabilities 11
Total liabilities 7,237

(iii)	Reportable segment including business separated:
 Financial service business

(iv)	�The approximate estimated amount of gain and loss recorded in the consolidated statements of operations of the current fiscal year related to 
the transferred business are as follows:

Net Sales (millions of Yen) 7,069
Ordinary income (millions of Yen) 895

XIX. SEGMENT INFORMATION

1. Overview of reportable segments
Separate financial information of the Group’s components is available and reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors for the purposes of allocation 
of financial resources and performance evaluation.

The Group engages in a wide range of business activities, mainly the financial service business. Based on the similarities of economic character-
istics of business or nature of services the “Asset Management Business,” “Brokerage and Investment Banking Business,” “Financial Services 
Business,” and “Housing and Real Estate Business” are determined as reportable segments.

The “Asset Management Business” primarily consists of fund management and investment in internet technology, biotechnology, environment 
energy and finance-related venture companies.

The “Brokerage and Investment Banking Business” primarily consists of financial businesses, such as trustee of securities trading, underwrit-
ing and offering for sale of IPO shares, offering for subscription or sale of stocks, foreign currency spot contracts, and other financial instrument 
trading businesses.

The “Financial Services Business” primarily consists of finance-related businesses, such as property and casualty insurance business, credit card 
business and the provision of information regarding financial products.

The “Housing and Real Estate Business” primarily consists of developing and trading of investment property, financing business related to the 
granting of mortgage loans, operating websites related to the provision of intermediate service, comparison and real estate appraisal service.

2. Measurement of reportable segment profits or losses and segment assets 
The accounting treatment of reportable segments is the same as that adopted in preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

The segment income is based on the operating income. The inter-segment revenue and amounts of transferring to other accounts are based on 
market price.

96 SBI Holdings, Inc.   Annual Report 2012



3. Information about reportable segments

Reportable segment

Year ended 31 March 2011

Asset Manage-
ment Business

(millions of Yen)

Brokerage & 
Investment 

Banking 
Business

(millions of Yen)

Financial 
Services 
Business

(millions of Yen)

Housing and 
Real Estate 

Business
(millions of Yen)

Sub-total
(millions of Yen)

Others (Note)
(millions of Yen)

Total
(millions of Yen)

Net sales
Revenue from customers 30,699 45,374 28,364 23,464 127,903 13,178 141,081
Inter-segment revenue 1 2,498 2,165 3 4,669 2,453 7,122
Total 30,701 47,873 30,530 23,467 132,573 15,631 148,204

Segment operating income (loss) 9,577 6,123 (536) 3,370 18,534 (1,832) 16,702
Segment assets 222,364 909,176 122,716 104,821 1,359,078 16,793 1,375,872
Other items 
Depreciation 50 2,734 1,277 439 4,502 479 4,982
Amortization of goodwill 274 5,851 526 728 7,381 508 7,889
Investment in subsidiaries and affili-
ates applying the equity method 4,146 2,062 25,661 — 31,870 238 32,109

Increase in property and equip-
ment, intangible assets 685 3,196 4,020 538 8,440 482 8,923

Note: �Business segments classified into “Others” are segment not determined as reportable segments which consist of system-related business, drug discovery business and garment 
business.

Reportable segment

Year ended 31 March 2012

Asset Manage-
ment Business

(millions of Yen)

Brokerage & 
Investment 

Banking 
Business

(millions of Yen)

Financial 
Services 
Business

(millions of Yen)

Housing and 
Real Estate 

Business
(millions of Yen)

Sub-total
(millions of Yen)

Others (Note)
(millions of Yen)

Total
(millions of Yen)

Net sales
Revenue from customers 34,566 41,485 41,001 22,463 139,517 5,557 145,074
Inter-segment revenue 0 2,297 2,352 2 4,652 3,142 7,794
Total 34,566 43,783 43,354 22,466 144,169 8,699 152,869

Segment operating income (loss) 14,183 3,607 (2,640) 3,383 18,533 (3,348) 15,185
Segment assets 244,449 1,220,172 133,623 118,400 1,716,646 20,429 1,737,075
Other items
Depreciation 54 3,464 1,444 587 5,550 559 6,109
Amortization of goodwill 251 5,851 517 741 7,361 505 7,866
Investment in subsidiaries and affili-
ates applying the equity method 4,623 4,829 30,671 — 40,124 121 40,246

Increase in property and equip-
ment, intangible assets 61 4,043 3,882 601 8,588 7,302 15,890

Note: �Business segments classified into “Others” are segment not determined as reportable segments which consist of system-related business and drug-discovery business.
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4. �Reconciliation of the differenc between the total amount of reportable segments and the total amount 
recorded in the consolidated financial statements:

For the years ended 31 March
2011 2012

Net sales (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Total of reportable segments 132,573 144,169
Net sales of “Others” 15,631 8,699
Elimination among segments (7,122) (7,794)
Net sales on the consolidated financial statements 141,081 145,074

For the years ended 31 March
2011 2012

Operating income (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Total of reportable segments 18,534 18,533
Losses of “Others” (1,832) (3,348)
Elimination among segments (1,765) (1,728)
Headquarters expenses (Note) (6,004) (5,881)
Operating income on the consolidated financial statements 8,932 7,575

Note: Headquarters expenses are general administrative expenses which are not attributable to reportable segments.

For the years ended 31 March
2011 2012

Assets (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Total of reportable segments 1,359,078 1,716,646
Assets of “Others” 16,793 20,429
Elimination among segments (94,348) (90,694)
Headquarters assets (Note) 12,082 17,433
Assets on the consolidated financial statements 1,293,606 1,663,814

Note: Headquarters assets are principally cash and deposits.

For the years ended 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Other items

Total of 
reportable 
segments Others

Amount of 
adjustment

Total on the 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

Total of 
reportable 
segments Others

Amount of 
adjustment

Total on the 
consolidated 

financial 
statements

Depreciation 4,502 479 399 5,381 5,550 559 346 6,456
Amortization of goodwill 7,381 508 — 7,889 7,361 505 — 7,866
Investment in subsidiaries and 
affiliates applying the equity 
method 31,870 238 — 32,109 40,124 121 — 40,246

Increase in property and equip-
ment, intangible assets 8,440 482 202 9,125 8,588 7,302 832 16,723

5. Impairment losses in each reportable segment for the years ended 31 March:
2011 2012

Impairment losses (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Asset Management Business — —
Brokerage & Investment Banking Business 350 —
Financial Services Business 150 105
Housing and Real Estate Business  — 128
Others (Note) 360 —
Headquarters expenses and elimination among segments — —
Total 861 233

Note: “Others” consists of healthcare related business.
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6. Balance of goodwill in each segment as at 31 March:
2011 2012

Goodwill (millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Asset Management Business 4,603 4,342
Brokerage & Investment Banking Business 97,878 91,777
Financial Services Business 6,144 6,087
Housing and Real Estate Business  10,953 10,629
Others (Note) 6,717 9,574
Headquarters expenses and elimination among segments — —
Total 126,297 122,410

Note: “Others” consists of system-related business, drug discovery business and garment business.

7. Geographical information
(1) Net sales
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Japan
(millions of Yen)

Asia
(millions of Yen)

Others
(millions of Yen)

Total
(millions of Yen)

117,237 22,984 859 141,081

Note: Net sales were classified into countries or regions according to customer location.

For the year ended 31 March 2012
Net sales of the Company and consolidated domestic subsidiaries exceeded 90% of the total net sales for the year ended 31 March 2012. There-
fore, geographical information regarding net sales for the year ended 31 March 2012 is not presented herein.

(2) Property and equipment
Property and equipment of the Company and consolidated domestic subsidiaries exceeded 90% of the total assets as at 31 March 2011 and 2012 
in the consolidated balance sheet. Therefore, geographical segment information is not presented herein.

8. Information of major customers
There was no major customer which accounted for more than 10% of the total net sales.

XX. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

1. Transactions with the executives and main individual shareholders of the Group
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Type Name Address
Capital 

(millions of Yen)
Business or 
position

Ownership 
(%)

Transaction 
description Contents

Amounts
 (millions of Yen)

Account 
name

Balance 
(millions of Yen)

Director Yoshitaka 
Kitao

— — The 
Company’s 
Representa-
tive director 
and CEO

(Ownership 
by the 
related 
party) Direct 
1.6

Sales of 
equity 
securities

Sales of 
investment 
securities

999 — —

Note:	Terms of transactions and policy for the terms
	 (1) �The sales price was determined in consideration of the price of transaction with an independent third party. The payment term was a one-time cash disbursement.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
There were no transactions with the executives and main individual shareholders of the Group in the year ended 31 March 2012.

2. Significant affiliate information
Summarized financial information of SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd., which was a significant affiliate for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2012, 
is as follows:

As at 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Total assets 1,696,189 2,378,386
Total liabilities 1,654,961 2,334,983
Net assets 41,227 43,403
Ordinary income 29,054 34,616
Income before income taxes 3,534 5,611
Net income 3,528 5,165

XXI. NOTES TO PER SHARE INFORMATION

Year ended 31 March
2011 2012

(Yen) (Yen)

Net assets per share 19,610.64 18,489.18
Net income per share 236.09 145.58
Diluted net income per share 225.74 140.64

Notes:
1. Basis of calculation for net assets per share

Year ended 31 March
2011 2012

(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Total net assets 456,982 468,579
– Stock acquisition rights (11) (10)
– Minority interest (66,142) (61,636)

Total deducted amount from net assets (66,154) (61,646)
Net assets attributable to common shareholders at the end of the year 390,828 406,932

The number of common shares outstanding at the end of the year 19,929,397 22,009,210

2. Basis of calculation for net income (loss) and diluted net income per share
Year ended 31 March

2011 2012
(millions of Yen) (millions of Yen)

Net income per share
Net income for the year 4,534 3,200
Net income not attributable to common shareholders — —
Net income attributable to common shareholders 4,534 3,200
Average number of common shares outstanding during the year 19,207,974 21,986,056
Diluted net income per share
Adjustment to net income for the year (194) (107)
Effect of dilutive shares issued by consolidated subsidiaries (194) (107)
Increase in number of common shares 20,501 5,247
Increased by exercising acquisition right 20,501 5,247

3. Overview of stocks with potential dilutive effect excluded from the calculation
For the year ended 31 March 2011: Stock acquisition rights issued by the stock option plan (Potential shares: 184,464 shares)
For the year ended 31 March 2012: Stock acquisition rights issued by the stock option plan (Potential shares: 222,740 shares)
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XXII. INFORMATION FOR THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

For the year ended 31 March 2012
(1) Number of consolidated subsidiaries: 118
Names of main consolidated subsidiaries are listed in Section of Corporate Information

As compared with the year ended 31 March 2011, there were 29 additions to and 23 exclusions from the scope of consolidation.
• Additions—20 entities were newly established or acquired
—SBI China Co., Ltd.
—SBI-R&D Investment LPS
—SBI PHOENIX No. 1 Investment LPS
—SBI Value Up Fund No. 2 Investment Limited Partnership
—Shinsai Partners Inc. and 15 other entities
• Additions—9 entities were newly consolidated due to the increased significance of the respective entities
—�SBI Hong Kong Holdings Co., Limited (SBI Hong Kong Co., Limited changed its name to SBI Hong Kong Holdings Co., Limited on 9 March 

2012.)
—�SBI Royal Securities Plc. (SBI Phnom Penh Securities Co., Ltd. changed its name to SBI Phnom Penh Securities Plc. on 17 November 2011, 

and changed its name to SBI Royal Securities Plc. on 16 January 2012.)
—SBI Fund Bank Co., Ltd.
—SBI Remit Co., Ltd. and 5 other entities
• Exclusions—10 entities were deconsolidated due to mergers including:
—SBI Property Advisors Co., Ltd. and 9 other entities
• Exclusions—10 entities were deconsolidated due to share sales including:
—SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd.
—HOMEOSTYLE, Inc. and 8 other entities
• Exclusions—3 entities were deconsolidated due to liquidations including:
—SBI Mezzanine Fund No. 1 LIMITED PARTNERSHIP and 2 other entities

(2) Name of main non-consolidated subsidiary and basis for exclusion from scope of consolidation
• Name of main non-consolidated subsidiary:
—Searchina Co., Ltd.
• �Basis for exclusion from scope of consolidation 

Small size entities of which total assets, sales, and proportional share of net income and retained earnings are considered to be immaterial are 
excluded from consolidation.

	
(3) �Name and number of entities not classified as subsidiaries despite the ownership of 50 percent or more of the voting 

power of the investees (venture capital investments) and basis for exclusion from scope of consolidation:
• Name of the entities:
—NARUMIYA INTERNATIONAL Co., Ltd. and 4 other entities.
• �Basis for exclusion from scope of consolidation 

These investments were made with the purpose of fostering venture capital portfolio companies and the Group has no intention to control 
the entities.

XXIII. INFORMATION FOR THE SCOPE OF EQUITY METHOD APPLICATION

For the year ended 31 March 2012
(1) Number of non-consolidated subsidiaries subject to the equity method: 1
Name of the entity:

—SBI Japannext Co., Ltd.

(2) Number of affiliates accounted for using the equity method: 20
Name of main entities:

—SBI Sumishin Net Bank, Ltd.
—SOLXYZ Co., Ltd.
—SBI Investment KOREA Co., Ltd.
As compared with the year ended 31 March 2011, there were 13 additions to 1 exclusions from the scope of equity method application.
• �Additions—Main affiliates for which the equity method is newly applied are as follows: They were newly incorporated or acquired during the 

current year.
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—FPT Securities Joint Stock Company
—Commercial Bank <<Ob’edinennyi Investitsionnyi Bank>> (limited liability company)
—PT BNI SECURITIES
—CSJ-SBI Financial Media Co., Ltd.
—KLab Ventures Co., Ltd. (Startup Laboratory Co., Ltd. changed its company name to KLab Ventures Co., Ltd. on 15 February 2012.) 
• Exclusion—1 affiliate of SBI VeriTrans Co., Ltd. was excluded from the scope of equity method application due to the share sales of SBI Veri-

Trans Co., Ltd.

(3) �Name of main non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates that are not accounted for using the equity method and basis 
for not applying the equity method:
• Name of the entities:
—Searchina Co., Ltd.
—NEW HORIZON PARTNERS LTD.
• �Basis for not applying the equity method 

Small size entities of which proportional share of net income and retained earnings are considered to be immaterial individually and collectively 
are not accounted for using the equity method.

(4) �Name of entities not classified as affiliates despite the ownership of 20 percent or more of the voting power of the 
investee but below 50 percent (venture capital investments) and basis for not applying the equity method:
• Name of main entities:
—Venture Revitalize Investment, Inc. and other 50 entities
• �Basis for not applying the equity method 

These investments were made with the purpose of fostering venture capital portfolio companies and the Group has no intention to exert influ-
ence over the entities.

XXIV. INFORMATION FOR DIFFERENT BALANCE SHEET DATES OF CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 March 2012
Consolidated subsidiaries whose balance sheet dates differ from that of the reporting entity were as follows:

Consolidated subsidiaries whose balance sheet date is 31 December
—SBI Hong Kong Holdings Co., Limited. and 55 other entities (47 entities in 2011)
Consolidated subsidiaries whose balance sheet date is 30 November
—SBI Value Up Fund No. 1 Limited Partnership and 4 other entities (5 entities in 2011)
Consolidated subsidiaries whose balance sheet date is 30 September
—Softbank Internet Fund and 2 other entities (3 entities in 2011)
Consolidated subsidiaries whose balance sheet date is 31 August
—SBI BROADBAND CAPITAL Co., Ltd. and 1 other entity (3 entities in 2011)
Consolidated subsidiaries whose balance sheet date is 30 June
—SBI BROADBAND FUND No. 1 LIMITED PARTNERSHIP (2 entities in 2011)
Consolidated subsidiaries whose balance sheet date is 31 January
—SBI Mezzanine Fund No. 2 and 4 other entities (6 entities in 2011)
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using the financial information of these companies prepared for the purpose of consolidation as 

at the balance sheet date of the reporting entity.

XXV. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Stock split, adoption of share unit system and partial amendment to the articles of incorporation
At the Company’s 14th business year’s shareholders meeting held on 28 June 2012, the adoption of a share unit system and partial amendment to 
the articles of incorporation were resolved. 

In addition, at the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 26 April 2012, the implementation of a stock split was resolved subject to the above 
shareholder’s approval on the partial amendment to the articles of incorporation.

1. �The purpose of the stock split, adoption of a share unit system and the partial amendment to the articles of incorporation
Based on the requests from the Japanese Stock Exchanges Conference to define the trading unit at 100 or 1,000 shares, the Company determined 
to adopt a share unit system and prescribed the share unit as 100 shares.

Since the Tokyo Stock Exchange set the preferable range of investment at ¥50,000 or more and less than ¥500,000 in accordance with Article 445 
of the Listing Rule, the Company determined to conduct a 10 for 1 stock split to meet the aforementioned range considering the recent stock price.
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2. The outline of the stock split
The stock split will be conducted at the rate of 10 shares for each outstanding share based on the shareholders registered as at 30 September 
2012.

3. The adoption of a share unit system
Share units will be prescribed as 100 shares. 

The adoption of a share unit and stock split would result in holders of shares with less than a unit. The Company will establish a system to enable 
shareholders with less than one share to demand the Company to purchase their shares that are less than one unit or to sell the shares to make the 
shares into a unit effective from on or after 1 October 2012.

4. The effective date of the stock split and the adoption of the share unit
The effective date of the stock split and the adoption of the share unit will be on 1 October 2012.

If the above stock split was conducted at the beginning of the year ended 31 March 2011, the per share information for the year ended 31 
March 2011 and 2012 would have been as follows:

Year ended 31 March
2011 2012

(Yen) (Yen)

Net assets per share 1,961.06 1,848.92
Net income per share  23.61 14.56
Diluted net income per share 22.57 14.06

XXVI. CONSOLIDATED SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

For the year ended 31 March 2012
1. Supplementary schedules of bonds payable

Company name Description Issuance date

Balance as at  
prior year end
 (millions of Yen)

Balance as at 
current year end 

(millions of Yen)
Interest rate 

(%) Collateral Redemption date

SBI Holdings, 
Inc.

Japanese yen 
straight bond 
(Note 2)

May 2010 to 
December 
2011

70,000 60,000 
(60,000)

1.66–1.90 None May 2011 to 
December 
2012

SBI Holdings, 
Inc.

No. 4 Unsecured 
straight bond

30 January  
2012

— 30,000 2.16 None 30 January  
2015

SBI Life Living 
Co., Ltd.

No. 1 Unsecured 
straight bond 
(Note 3)

30 Decem-
ber 2010

600 540
(60)

TIBOR
+0.1

Bank guarantee 30 December 
2020

Total 70,600 90,540
(60,060)

Notes:
(1) Amounts in brackets represent redemption amounts within one year from the balance sheet date.
(2) Total amounts of straight bond in Japanese Yen issued based on the Euro medium-term note program are stated above.
(3) Collateral is provided for the bank guarantee.
(4) Annual maturities of long-term bonds payable including the current portion as at 31 March 2012 for the next five years are as follows:

Within one year
(millions of Yen)

1 to 2 years
(millions of Yen)

2 to 3 years
(millions of Yen)

3 to 4 years
(millions of Yen)

4 to 5 years
(millions of Yen)

60,060 60 30,060 60 60
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2. Supplementary schedules of loans payable and others

Description

Balance as at prior  
year end

(millions of Yen) 

Balance as at current 
year end

 (millions of Yen)
Average interest rate

 (%) Repayment date

Short-term loans payable 97,164 103,915 1.18 —
Current portion of long-term loans payable 12,147 19,888 1.41 —
Current portion of lease obligation 2,114 1,799 — —
Long-term loans payable  
(excluding current portion) 31,366 16,765 2.02

March 2013 to 
February 2017

Lease obligation  
(excluding current portion) 6,506 4,185 —

May 2013 to 
August 2017

Other interest bearing debt
Borrowings on margin transactions 70,386 76,007 0.77 —

Total 219,685 222,562

Notes:
(1) Average interest rates were calculated using the weighted-average interest rate based on year-end borrowing balances.
(2) �Average interest rate on lease obligation is not stated since the part of lease obligation on the balance sheet includes interest portion of minimum lease payments.
(3) �Annual maturities of long-term loans payable and lease obligation, excluding the current portion, as at 31 March 2012 for the next five years are as follows:

1 to 2 years
(millions of Yen)

2 to 3 years
(millions of Yen)

3 to 4 years
(millions of Yen)

4 to 5 years
(millions of Yen)

Long-term loans payable 2,936 6,161 6,970 697
Lease obligation 1,784 1,447 812 137

3. Supplementary schedules of the asset retirement obligation
As the amounts of the asset retirement obligation as at 31 March 2011 and 2012 were less than 1% of total liabilities and net assets, the breakdown 
of the asset retirement obligation was omitted in accordance with Article 92–2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements Rule.
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